

Substance Exposed Newborns:

Addressing Social Costs Across the Lifespan

Paper prepared by: Margaret L. O'Brien, JD, MA, Heller School for Social Policy and Management, Brandeis University

Susan M. Phillips, JD, MA, Heller School for Social Policy and Management, Brandeis University

Tuesday, September 27, 2011 8:00 a.m - 12:15 p.m.

Omni Parker House Hotel 60 School Street Boston, MA

This forum was made possible by a special grant from: Massachusetts Department of Public Health

Copyright © 2011. The Massachusetts Health Policy Forum. All rights reserved.

NO. 40

Sustaining Funding: Blue Cross Blue Shield of Massachusetts The Forum is also supported by generous grants from: Partners HealthCare • Tufts Health Plan Foundation MHPF is a collaboration of the Schneider Institutes for Health Policy at the Heller School for Social Policy and Management, Brandeis University The Issue Brief for this Forum is on the MHPF website at www.masshealthpolicyforum.brandeis.edu

Table of Contents

Executive Summary	1
Goals and Methods for Issue Brief	4
Quantifying Exposure	5
Effects of Prenatal Substance Exposure	6
Correlates of Prenatal Substance Exposure Within the Family	7
Effect on the Mother, Child and Other Family Members	7
Additional Risk Factors - Co-morbid Mental Illness, HIV-AIDS, and Domestic Violence	8
Substance use disorders and mental illness among pregnant women	9
Substance use disorders and HIV-AIDS among pregnant women	9
Substance use disorders and domestic violence among pregnant women	9
Effect on Society, including Social, Economic and Human Costs	10
Costs Directly Relating to the Birth of Substance-Exposed Newborns	10
Costs Through the Life Span	10
Overarching Principles Underlying Effective Societal and Programmatic Responses to Prenatal Substance Exposure	11
Comprehensive, Individualized and Family Centered Treatment	12
Gender Responsive Treatment	12
Culturally Competent and Strength Based Treatment	13
Trauma-Informed Treatment	13
Treatment That Minimizes Stigma	13
Identification, Treatment and Services to Support Pregnant Women and Their Substance-Exposed Children	14
Reproductive Life Planning and Prevention	15
Screening, Brief Intervention, and Referral to Treatment (SBIRT)	16
Services for Pregnant Women	18
Identification of Substance-Affected Newborns and Referral to Services at Birth	19
Federal Requirements for Identification and Care	20

Identification of Substance-Affected Newborns	21
Screening For and Medical Management of Neonatal Abstinence Syndrome and Other Sub- stance-Related Complications	22
Notifying the Department of Children and Families	22
Early Intervention	24
Service Provision for Mothers to Minimize the Effects of Substance Exposure Through Infancy	26
Residential Treatment	26
Voluntary Residential Treatment	26
Incarceration as Residential Treatment	27
Civil Commitment at the Women's Addiction Treatment Center	28
Outpatient Treatment	29
Peer Recovery Worker Case Coordination – A Helping Hand and FRESH Start	30
Home-Based Services – Family Recovery Project	31
Family Treatment Drug Courts	31
Beyond Infancy – Services Through the Life Span	32
Priorities for the Commonwealth	34
Appendices:	
List of Individuals Interviewed and Other Sources	38
Acknowledgements	40
References	41

Executive Summary

The Problem and Associated Costs Approximately 24,000 substance-exposed infants¹ were born in Massachusetts in 2009, and it is estimated that approximately 10% of those exposed will be measurably affected by this exposure. Thus, an estimated 2,400 substance-affected infants were born in 2009 within Massachusetts. While illegal drugs and the misuse of prescription medication can cause damage, substantial harm also comes from the use of alcohol and tobacco. Although interactions with poor prenatal care, poor maternal nutrition, adverse postnatal experiences, and polysubstance use make it difficult to isolate the adverse impact of any particular substance, the effects of prenatal substance exposure can be profound. Prenatal substance exposure may result in effects that are subtle, such as irritability and emotional reactivity, attention and memory deficits, and difficulties with information processing and decision making, to more severe lifetime physical, cognitive or developmental disabilities, or even miscarriage or death of the newborn.

Societal costs of prenatal substance exposure include those associated with: 1) health, psychological, and behavioral treatment (ranging from possible neonatal intensive care to other care throughout the newborn's lifetime), 2) developmental supports such as early intervention and special education, 3) residential and/or other institutional care throughout the lifetime, 4) lifetime productivity losses, including lost earnings for caregivers, 5) juvenile and criminal justice involvement, 6) child welfare system involvement such as foster care, 7) entitlements such as Supplemental Security Income, and 8) substance abuse treatment if the child goes on to misuse substances.

Requirements for Intervention There are five intervention points where state policy and practice can benefit substance-exposed individuals and their families: preconception, during pregnancy, at birth, during infancy, and throughout the lifespan. Regardless of where in this spectrum services are provided, service delivery should minimize judgment and stigma, and should be comprehensive, individualized, gender responsive, trauma-informed, family centered, strength-based and culturally competent.

Current Efforts Within Massachusetts Massachusetts is fortunate to have a broad range of programs and services for pregnant and parenting women and their substance-affected children at almost every intervention point. Among other things, the Department of Public Health (DPH) has: 1) undertaken a large screening, brief intervention and referral to treatment initiative directed at a broad range of individuals and developed a tool kit for providers to assist in prenatal screening, 2) developed a substance abuse treatment provider guide for medically monitored treatment for pregnant women, 3) begun a study to determine birthing hospital protocols for dealing with prenatally-exposed infants, 4) facilitated specialized treatment for women civilly committed due to dangerous substance use at the Women's Addiction Treatment Center, 5) developed innovative family residential treatment centers that serve pregnant and parenting women, 6) piloted peer recovery support programs that utilize mothers in recovery to provide recovery coaching, care coordination, and parenting support to pregnant women and new parents with substance use disorders, and 7) piloted in-home services for families not in substance abuse treatment but who are parenting children and are identified as having substance abuse problems.

¹ Substance-exposed, as used herein, entails any prenatal exposure to any amount of alcohol, tobacco, illegal drugs, or misused prescription drugs. Substance-affected is a more ambiguous concept and entails different degrees of disability, ranging from minimally present but undiagnosed to profound.

The Department of Children and Families (DCF) is endeavoring to better coordinate practices throughout the state regarding procedures for screening and investigation of reported prenatal substance exposure.

Policy Recommendations In addition to continuing these existing efforts, there are opportunities for improvement within Massachusetts. We make the following policy recommendations to strengthen the state's response to the problem of substance-exposed newborns, cognizant of the state's limited resources and the need to balance many competing demands:

PRECONCEPTION and DURING PREGNANCY:

- Education: Conduct large scale media campaigns or mass distribution of materials to educate the public about the need for fertility planning and pre-pregnancy cessation of both illegal and legal substance use.
- Universal SBIRT: Implement universal screening, brief intervention for those whose substance use is unhealthy, and referral to treatment where indicated (SBIRT) for all women of childbearing age, or, at minimum, for all pregnant women, with quality performance measures adopted to track compliance.
- **Reimbursement**: Add screening procedure codes for Mass Health (Massachusetts Medicaid) to ensure availability of Medicaid reimbursement for both preconception and prenatal SBIRT. Encourage more private insurers to adopt SBIRT reimbursement as well.
- **Geographic availability of services**: Expand services in different areas of the state with demonstrated need, particularly programs like *FRESH Start* that serve pregnant and parenting women and are able to facilitate coordination between the multiple agencies and services with which women with past or present substance use disorders are likely to be involved.
- **Detox**: Equip all detoxification facilities with the knowledge and resources to feel comfortable serving pregnant women.

AT BIRTH:

- **Birthing hospital protocols**: Implement consistent written protocols for birthing hospitals to ensure objective non-discriminatory screening when there are concerns that a newborn may be substance-exposed.
- **Evidence-based treatment**: Require use of evidence-based infant treatment when substance-exposure complications surface.
- **Cross-systems coordination**: Consider approaches taken in other states to enhance crosssystems coordination, efficiency and thoroughness in identification, treatment and referral at birth.
- **Electronic health records**: Explore the use of electronic hospital records to identify women who come into contact with substance-related services during pregnancy and whose record

includes substance-related diagnosis or treatment codes, with possible referral to an Early Intervention Partnership Program (EIPP) and/or to Early Intervention (EI).

- **Provider communication**: Facilitate communication between ob/gyns and pediatricians to allow connection of pregnancy issues to the child's medical record and permit accurate diagnosis of the child.
- **DCF response**: Enhance coordination within DCF to assure consistent, equitable responses throughout the state when substance-exposed children are referred to DCF.
- EI referrals: Increase referrals to EI by birth hospitals.
- **EI eligibility**: Establish automatic EI eligibility for any substance-exposed newborn for at least six months following birth.
- **Treatment in correctional facilities**: Explore alternatives to the practices of requiring women in correctional custody to terminate medication assisted treatment after giving birth and to be shackled during transportation for childbirth.

THROUGH INFANCY AND THE LIFE SPAN:

- **EI screening and training**: Integrate universal Fetal Alcohol Spectrum Disorder (FASD) screening into EI programs and increase EI provider training on intervention strategies for all substance-exposed children.
- Additional treatment options: Expand treatment options within Massachusetts to additional locations within the state. Ideally, this would include:
 - ° An additional site for civilly committed women in Western Massachusetts
 - ° Additional residential family treatment programs
 - [°] Supporting the development of comprehensive community based treatment either at single sites or through networks of providers within a community
 - ° Refining and replicating the best aspects of the peer recovery worker model of *FRESH Start* and *A Helping Hand*
- **Family Treatment Drug Courts**: Direct resources to the piloting of Family Treatment Drug Courts in appropriate areas of the state.
- **Treatment for affected children**: Develop appropriate treatment for affected children throughout childhood and adolescence.
- Services for families: Make comprehensive services available for families because parenting substance-exposed children can pose unique challenges.

- **Promising practices**: Ensure ongoing state funding for evidence based and promising practices currently funded through temporary federal grants, including: *Project BRIGHT*, the *Family Recovery Project* and *FRESH Start*.
- **Coordination**: Enhance coordination between state agencies as children who were substanceexposed newborns move through the educational system and into young adulthood.

The Value of Making a Difference Money spent on pre- and inter-conception education and identification of substance using mothers during pregnancy, and, when appropriate, treatment of both the substance using parent(s) and substance-exposed newborn during the first years of life, will minimize lifetime social service costs. Providing substance abuse treatment to pregnant women can reduce substance use, improve nutrition and prenatal care, and improve birth outcomes. Better birth outcomes lead to lower medical costs and social service costs throughout the child's life. Moreover, many women who give birth to a substance-exposed newborn may go on to have other children, so that appropriate and effective pre-pregnancy interventions result in even greater savings if subsequent prenatal substance exposure is prevented.

Goals and Methods for Issue Brief

This Issue Brief synthesizes what is known about the effects of prenatal substance exposure, as well as programs and policies designed to deal with this problem. It highlights key research on the health and functional challenges that impact substance-affected children and their families, as well as associated societal costs. It presents approaches to help prevent prenatal substance exposure, and to effectively respond to such exposure when it occurs. This includes steps that individuals, communities and the state can take to create a healthier environment for substance-exposed newborns and their families.

We begin by quantifying exposure and by summarizing the known cognitive, physical and developmental effects of substance exposure for the child, as well as the effect such substance exposure has on the family and society. We then turn to a description of the necessary features of effective treatment responses to substance-exposed children and their families and a review of the continuum of treatment options that currently exist in Massachusetts, highlighting ways in which various options or the system as a whole can be made more accessible and effective. We also make policy recommendations.

An estimated 2,400 to 2,880 infants born in 2009 in Massachusetts were affected by prenatal substance exposure: It is widely understood that alcohol and tobacco used during pregnancy are the leading causes of preventable adverse birth outcomes.

Although we rely primarily upon research literature to describe the depth and complexity of the issue of substance-exposed newborns, we turn to experts, primarily those within Massachusetts, to direct our review of relevant programs and policy literature. We generally do not quote anyone by name from these interviews, although we sometimes quote without attribution from our notes. The names of people interviewed or who provided substantive information are listed in Appendix A. Acknowledgements of others who assisted in the preparation of this brief may be found in Appendix B.

Quantifying Exposure

The injection, inhaling, or ingesting of certain substances during pregnancy can have harmful effects on the fetus and newborn, as well as on the pregnant woman, her family and society in general. Substances of concern include illegal drugs, such as cocaine, heroin or marijuana, the inappropriate and illegal use of prescription medications, such as pain medication or benzodiazepines, and legal substances such as alcohol and tobacco.

The degree of prenatal substance exposure in Massachusetts may be measured in several ways, none of which are ideal. However, as suggested in Table 1, an estimated 24,000 prenatally substanceexposed infants were born in Massachusetts in 2009. These estimates were obtained by applying preliminary 2009 birth data for Massachusetts (75,104 births): 1) to 2009 national data on prenatal substance use obtained from the National Survey on Drug Use and Health (NSDUH)[5], and 2) for

non-binge alcohol and tobacco use, to 2008 data from the Pregnancy Risk Assessment Monitoring System (PRAMS) survey[6], which reports on the use of those two substances during the last three months of pregnancy by state. While Table 1 figures do not account for Massachusetts-specific patterns of use for illicit drugs, for higher binge drinking rates in Massachusetts [7]. for infants that may be poly-substanceexposed and double-counted, or for underreporting by individuals surveyed, it is the best estimate available and suggests that perhaps a third of infants born in Massachusetts have some level of substance exposure. Given that approximately 10 to 12% of substance-exposed newborns are believed to be affected by their exposure [8], between 2,400 and 2,880 infants were born substance-affected in Massachusetts in 2009 alone

Substance exposure usually does not begin and end during pregnancy. Newborns and young children who live with substance

Table 1: Estimated Numbers of Infants Exposed to Each Substance in Massachusetts, 2009				
Substance	Percent of Pregnant Women Ages 15-44 Reporting Past Month Use	Total Estimated Number of Ex- posed Infants in Massachusetts		
Tobacco	9.8	7,360		
Alcohol	11.0	8,261		
Binge Alcohol	5.4	4,056		
Marijuana	7.6	5,708		
Illicit Pain Reliever Use	1.5	1,127		
Illicit Benzodiazepine Use	0.8	601		
Illicit Use of Stimulants	0.3	225		
Cocaine	0.2	150		
Hallucinogens	0.6	451		
Heroin	0.2	150		
[Source: See references 5 (weighted frequencies), 9 (Table 6), 10].				

using caretakers may be physically, psychologically and emotionally impacted by the presence of substance use in their environment [3]. There are no national or state data on the number of persons who enter substance abuse treatment who have children, the ages of those children, or whether those children live with the parent who is in treatment. Limited data suggest, however, that approximately 57% of all persons admitted to substance abuse treatment have minor children, with a larger percentage of women than men being parents of minor children (69% vs. 52%) [11].

Effects of Prenatal Substance Exposure

Interaction effects with poor prenatal care, poor maternal nutrition and adverse postnatal experiences, as well as polysubstance use, make it difficult to isolate the adverse effect of any particular substance on children [12-16]. In addition, effects can vary greatly by substance, timing, frequency and quantity of use, with, for instance, binge drinking generally or any substance use at crucial periods of development regarded as particularly dangerous [12, 15, 17-19]. What we do know of potential effects is summarized in Table 2, with some potential ill-effects of prenatal substance exposure ranging from more common subtle effects of irritability and emotional reactivity, attention and memory deficits, and difficulties with information processing and decision making, to rarer but more severe lifetime physical, cognitive or developmental disabilities, or even miscarriage or death of the newborn [12, 13, 20-32].

Potential effects of alcohol and tobacco have been well-documented for years, and Fetal Alcohol Syndrome (FAS) is widely regarded as the leading cause of preventable intellectual disability in the western world [12, 33]. A body of evidence related to

Table 2: Potential Effects of Prenatal Exposure to Alcohol, Tobacco, and Common Illicit Drugs		
Substance	Possible Effects	
Alcohol	Preterm birth, spontaneous abortion and stillbirth; Fetal Alcohol Spectrum Disor- ders, the most serious of which is Fetal Alcohol Syndrome which may include: facial anomalies, growth retardation, below average intelligence, impairment of memory and attention, serious behavioral difficulties, and congenital abnormalities	
Tobacco	Premature birth, miscarriage, increased risk of sudden infant death syndrome (SIDS), impairment of fetal nutrition and growth, reduction in blood flow and oxygen to the fetus, birth defects, pathologic changes in the lungs of the fetus and in the fetal brain, cognitive and neurobehavioral deficits	
Marijuana	Neurological development problems, attention and memory problems, problem- solving deficits	
Methamphetamine	Neurobehavioral patterns of decreased arousal, lethargy, increased CNS stress, poor quality of movement, effect on verbal memory network	
Cocaine	Pre-term delivery, possible low birth weight, small head circumference, growth re- tardation, possible neurobehavioral deficits, deficits in cognitive performance with differences between genders	
Heroin	Possible low birth weight, prematurity, neurodevelopmental impairment, Neonatal Withdrawal Syndrome	
Prescription Opioids	Neonatal Withdrawal Syndrome, possible impairment of learning and memory, birth defects	
Benzodiazepines	Evidence of birth defects, cognitive deficits in animals, withdrawal syndrome in hu- mans	
[Sources: See references 12, 13, 14, 20-29, 31, 32, 38, 39].		

illicit drug exposure is currently expanding. While failure to account for factors such as poor prenatal care and poor maternal nutrition led to some exaggeration of the immediate effect of cocaine use on exposed infants during the 1980s and 1990s, studies of cocaine-exposed infants, as they have aged through latency and adolescence, demonstrate that substance effects vary as children develop [e.g., 34, 35-37].

Substance use by the mother can affect the developing fetus and lead to future problems even when such use does not meet the clinical criteria for substance abuse or dependence. Therefore, current recommendations are that women not consume any alcohol, tobacco or illicit drugs during pregnancy [20, 29, 40, 41].

Correlates of Prenatal Substance Exposure Within the Family

Prompt identification of unhealthy use, diagnosis of *in utero* substance exposure, and appropriate early intervention can reduce the effects of prenatal exposure to certain substances. Conversely, continuing substance use, or failure to provide appropriate interventions, elevates risk and may lead to adverse outcomes when children are exposed to unhealthy substance use either prenatally or in their early environment [3]. In considering the effect of substance exposure, it is necessary to address correlated difficulties among those parenting substance-exposed newborns.

Effect on the Mother, Child and Other Family Members

The birth of a substance-exposed infant can have multiple effects on the birth mother, other family members and on the parent-child relationship. The

mother-child dyad, in particular, may be impacted, with the mother possibly experiencing feelings of shame, guilt and/or depression following such a birth, particularly if the birth is accompanied by child welfare involvement. Such feelings can impair the ability of the mother to bond and of the child to develop healthy attachment [34, 42, 43]. When children are removed from biological family care, they also may develop attachment problems if placement entails multiple caregivers in multiple foster homes. It also can be more difficult to parent children born substance-exposed, which may make attachment more difficult for the infant and further separate parent and child [44]. Continued substance abuse within the family can lead to compromised parenting, with some studies estimating that children born to parents with substance use disorders are at three or four times greater risk of incurring abuse or neglect [44].

> The incidence of parental substance abuse does not vary by socio-economic status, although the substances used may vary.

A comprehensive study of the effects of adverse childhood events, such as parental substance abuse, on adolescent and adult development and health outcomes can be found in the Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACE) Study [2]. It is important to note that the incidence of parental substance abuse

The ACE Study

Through a survey and medical evaluation of predominantly well-educated, middle-class members of the Kaiser Permanente Medical Care Program in San Diego, it was determined that adverse childhood events, including parental substance abuse, parental separation or divorce, exposure to domestic violence, experiencing various forms of abuse or neglect, and household criminal activity tend to occur cumulatively. Children exposed to parental substance abuse were 81% more likely to experience at least one additional adverse childhood event and 29% more likely to experience as many as four additional adverse childhood events [2]. The more adverse childhood events experienced, the more likely a particular individual was to adopt high risk health behaviors and to experience physical or mental illness or social problems as an adult [3]. The theoretical model connecting adverse childhood experience with these adult health outcomes is shown in Figure 1.



Figure 1 [Source: 4]

The ACE Study has important implications for both substance exposed newborns and their parents. For substance exposed newborns, it illustrates the importance of interventions to interrupt the accumulation of additional adverse childhood experiences that often accompany parental substance abuse. For parents of substance exposed newborns, it illustrates how the adoption of risky health behaviors and the development of substance use disorders may be a result of their own adverse childhood experiences. This underscores the need to treat substance abuse as a public health problem rather than as a personal moral failing. does not vary by socio-economic status, although the substances used may vary. Thus, adverse developmental outcomes can affect all children exposed to parental substance abuse [2].

As a result of the developmental challenges posed by prenatal substance exposure and/or the adverse impact of substance use in the post-birth environment, individuals parenting substanceexposed children, whether the birth family or substitute caregivers, may need more parenting education and support than those raising a child not prenatally exposed [43]. Evidence shows that substance-exposed newborns raised in nurturing and stable home environments typically have improved outcomes over those who reside in chaotic or neglectful post-natal environments [27, 43, 45].

Additional Risk Factors – Co-morbid Mental Illness, HIV-AIDS, and Domestic Violence

Substance use disorders do not exist in a vacuum and women who abuse substances often grew up in substance abusing families, often have been victims of physical and sexual abuse, and may have begun using substances at a very early age, thus compromising their own developmental trajectories. In light of these common experiences, it is not surprising that women who give birth to substance-exposed newborns may also experience mental illness, be infected with HIV-AIDS, or be exposed to domestic violence. Understanding the extent of such cooccurrence is important because it fosters recognition of the complexity of the problem of substance use during pregnancy, and it helps determine appropriate treatment for both parents and children.

Substance use disorders and mental illness among pregnant women

Substance use disorders often cooccur with mental illness, including mood disorders such as bipolar disorder, depression, or dysthymia, as well as anxiety, schizophrenia and other disorders. Pregnant and parenting women with substance use disorders may experience mental health issues as well. Depression, in particular, is not uncommon among pregnant women, with research showing high rates of substance abuse among depressed pregnant women [46].

In Massachusetts, 60% of pregnant women in specialty substance use disorder treatment in 2009 reported at least one co-occurring mental health problem at admission beyond the substance problem for which they were being treated [47], and 58% of women reported having received prior mental health treatment [48].

Substance use disorders and HIV-AIDS among pregnant women

HIV-AIDS and substance use also have an intertwined relationship, as many individuals infected with HIV also experience substance use problems. The CDC reported that, in 2005, 52% of those with HIV also reported use of alcohol and/or illicit drugs [49]. Women who use substances during their reproductive years have high rates of HIV infection compared to the non-using population [50] and female injection drug users are at very high risk of contracting HIV, either through their own drug use or through sexual contact with another injection drug user. Increasing percentages of prenatally HIV-infected infants have mothers who acquire the infection during pregnancy [51] and drug use during pregnancy may contribute to mother to child transmission of HIV [52]. Women with HIV may, either because of denial of their illness and/or because of on-going substance use, access prenatal care late in pregnancy, or not at all, and may fail to inform delivering providers of their HIV status. This also results in increased likelihood of transmission of the virus to the child [53].

Estimates of domestic violence directed towards pregnant women are limited to certain states, but, as of 2008, between 1.8 and 6.0% of pregnant women surveyed reported being subjected to domestic violence during pregnancy [6]. Nearly 2% of pregnant women in Massachusetts surveyed in 2008 reported experiencing domestic violence [6], a number that is surely low, given the fear many women have of reporting abuse. Domestic violence during pregnancy is a risk factor for prenatal substance use, with evidence that pregnant victims of interpersonal violence are more

likely to smoke, drink alcohol and use drugs [54, 55].

Effect on Society, including Social, Economic and Human Costs

There are two types of costs that must be considered in connection with substanceaffected newborns; those related to special medical care during the perinatal period, and those experienced through infancy and beyond to address the developmental effects of substance exposure. Growing evidence of the more subtle and delayed effects of substance exposure may lead to future recognition of other life span costs associated with exposure. Additionally, a large percentage of child welfare costs have been associated with parental substance use disorders generally [56].

Costs Directly Relating to the Birth of Substance-Exposed Newborns

Prenatal exposure to tobacco² is estimated to result in neonatal health expenditures of over \$458 million annually [57]³. The Office of National Drug Control Policy [59] estimated medical costs associated with drugaffected infants in 2002 at what would be approximately \$751.5 million in 2011 dollars. An estimate of the public health and medical costs associated with neonatal treatment for opioid exposure in 2009 placed costs at between \$73.5 million and \$117.3 million in 2011 dollars [1].

Costs Through the Life Span

Costs associated with prenatal substance exposure beyond those incurred at birth

are even more difficult to quantify but include:

- treating associated health, psychological, and behavioral impacts,
- 2. early intervention and special education costs,
- 3. institutional, residential and/or support costs throughout the lifetime,
- 4. lifetime productivity losses, costs of supported employment of the affected individual and lost earnings for caregivers,
- 5. associated juvenile and criminal justice costs,
- 6. associated child welfare system costs, not only for adoptive, foster or respite care, but also administrative and procedural,
- 7. Supplemental Security Income and other entitlement payments, and
- 8. possible substance abuse treatment costs if the child goes on to use substances [60].

Attached to these costs are, of course, uncertain prevalence rates and difficulty in ascertaining the degree of special or extraordinary needs for each individual child. For example, as of fiscal year 2010-2011, even a child not severely affected by prenatal substance exposure, who is determined to be unable to remain in parental care, will incur costs of at least \$5,500 for each year of foster

² These distinctions between different substances and their costs ignore, of course, the fact that many people use multiple substances. ³ All costs in this and the following section have been updated to 2011 dollars [58].

care or subsidized adoption, which in today's dollars would be at least \$99,000 through age 18. For a child with specialized needs, costs could range from \$36,800 a year for intensive foster care to \$98,000 a year for residential placement. Such placement costs are distributed between the state and federal government, and additional costs to both the state and federal government include Medicaid coverage for children removed from parental care [61]. Additionally, if a substanceexposed newborn becomes an adult with a substance use disorder, there is a possibility that yet another generation of substance-exposed newborns will be born to those who are currently unidentified or whose needs are not being met.

The lifetime costs of prenatal substance exposure have been most thoroughly explored relative to alcohol exposure. In 2003, the Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration (SAMHSA) FASD Center for Excellence conducted a review of multiple studies of FAS-related costs in the United States. Direct and indirect costs per individual over his or her lifetime have been estimated at \$2,484 million or more in 2011 dollars, allocating \$1.987 million for medical treatment, special education and residential care for individuals with mental retardation, and \$0.497 million per individual for productivity losses [60]. This estimate could be higher for those with the most profound intellectual disabilities. These figures, the best that exist on costs associated with FAS, do not specifically include costs associated with the less severe manifestations of FASD. While those

individual costs would be lower, the prevalence of FASD is higher and, because it is frequently unrecognized and untreated, associated costs such as those related to criminal justice involvement may actually be higher.

Overarching Principles Underlying Effective Societal and Programmatic Responses to Prenatal Substance Exposure

Through our interviews with researchers and service providers, a recurrent theme was that services for families of substanceexposed newborns, especially when a

Key Features of Effective Service Provision: Comprehensive Individualized Family Centered Gender Responsive Culturally Competent Strength Based Trauma-Informed Minimizes Stigma

substance using parent remains the child's primary caretaker, should be comprehensive, individualized, gender responsive, culturally competent, strength-based, family centered, trauma-informed and minimize stigma.⁴ In our discussion of these necessary characteristics of effective service provision, and through the remainder of the brief, we will largely focus on treatment and services for pregnant and parenting women, because they are the primary caretakers of the majority of

⁴ These are, of course, characteristics of good treatment generally and do not pertain only to pregnant women.

substance-exposed newborns. Without serving these women effectively, we will be unable to either decrease the frequency of substance exposure or ameliorate the individual, social, or economic effects once substance exposure occurs. These same principles apply, however, whether the parent, child, or a substitute caretaker is the focus of treatment.

Comprehensive, Individualized and Family Centered Treatment

Effective treatment needs to comprehensively address both the mother's substance use and other difficulties within the family [62]. Attention to the woman's needs must be individualized and patient-centered, as "one-size-fits-all treatment" is ineffective. Difficulties within the family may include not only cooccurring mental illness, HIV-AIDS infection or domestic violence, but also the parents' needs for education, job skills, employment, safe and stable housing, transportation and parenting education. Comprehensive treatment for any pregnant or parenting woman with a substance use disorder also must include attention to the needs of all of her children.

Family centered treatment includes assisting the entire family, including the woman's partner and older children, and must address the potential for additional children. Mothers with young children, including those who give birth to infants identified as substance-exposed, have particular needs for substance abuse treatment. Logistically, treatment must be geographically accessible for women with young children, with child care and any necessary family treatment included. Residential or inpatient treatment should include appropriate family living quarters. Parenting education and behavioral health services for substance-affected children also need to be available [63].

Gender Responsive Treatment

Women face a number of unique challenges that interfere with substance abuse treatment. These include: issues related to parenting; opposition to treatment by people in the woman's life; the stigma associated with substance use in women; co-occurring disorders more commonly seen in women – such as mood, anxiety and eating disorders; cultural factors interfering with treatment in the company of men; trauma history that affects both followthrough with referrals and comfort in participating in treatment with men; and responsiveness to different therapeutic approaches [64]. The SAMHSA Center for Substance Abuse Treatment (CSAT) Treatment Improvement Protocol (TIP) No. 51 offers research-based suggestions for improving both women's engagement and treatment success, including:

- Outreach services
- Pre-treatment intervention groups
- Comprehensive case management
- Supportive and collaborative therapy rather than confrontational approaches
- Trauma-informed treatment
- Same-sex groups

- Attention to co-occurring disorders
- Safety planning when there are issues of potential domestic violence [65].

Culturally Competent and Strength Based Treatment

Good treatment acknowledges cultural differences and values and culturally competent treatment improves outcomes in behavioral health treatment. In one study, interventions that were culturally specific proved four times more effective and native language interventions twice as effective as generic English language interventions [66].

Effective treatment builds on a woman's strengths and uses those to help her transcend current problems. Strengthbased treatment puts the individual's interests and abilities to work in service of recovery. Rather than focusing only on client deficits, a strength-based approach focuses on areas of competence and promotes growth and resilience [67]. This kind of treatment provides hope for clients by identifying realistic building blocks for improvement.

Trauma-Informed Treatment

Women with histories of significant trauma have as much as 12 times the risk of alcoholism and drug abuse as do women without such histories [3]. Trauma includes exposure to or personal experience of domestic violence or childhood physical, sexual and/or emotional abuse or neglect. Effective substance abuse treatment for women, especially pregnant and parenting women, should therefore be traumainformed, not merely gender specific [68]. Trauma-informed treatment means that the clinician or direct service provider is aware of the likely existence of trauma in a woman's life and uses this recognition to avoid re-traumatizing experiences. This requires that every person a woman interacts with in the course of obtaining services, such as receptionists or on-site child care providers, be educated about and sensitive to the ways that trauma history might influence treatment.

Treatment That Minimizes Stigma

Both substance abuse and mental illness remain stigmatized, and pregnant women with co-occurrence may be doubly stigmatized. Many people assume that a substance using or mentally ill mother is unfit to raise her child, leading to fears of custody loss if help for either disorder is sought. Almost everyone we interviewed pointed out that people who are uneducated about the substance use/ abuse continuum tend to be judgmental and punitive. This attitude is not confined to the public but extends to doctors, nurses, judges, legislators and others. Stigma often stands in the way of treatment because women do not feel comfortable telling people that they have a problem in order to access help. Ways to minimize stigma and negative judgment include educating practicing professionals and policy makers that substance use can be problematic even when addiction is not present, that substance use disorders are brain-based. and that the most effective approaches to unsafe substance use are through a public health approach. Such efforts

should include working to change the content and messages about substance use in medical, nursing and law schools.

Identification, Treatment and Services to Support Pregnant Women and Their Substance-Exposed Children

A number of services and programs are currently available in Massachusetts to prevent, identify and treat prenatal substance exposure and to assist families of substance-exposed children. This section discusses both Massachusetts initiatives and best practices implemented elsewhere, and identifies specific challenges confronting Massachusetts. We start prior to conception, when it may be possible to prevent the birth of substance-exposed newborns, and then explore options for effective services during pregnancy, at the time of birth, during infancy, and through childhood and beyond.

INTERVENTION POINTS TO PREVENT PRENATAL SUBSTANCE EXPOSURE AND AMELIORATE THE IMPACTS OF SUBSTANCE-EXPOSURE IN INFANCY		
1 - PRECONCEPTION	Promote awareness of effects of prenatal substance use by educating ado- lescent and adult women about the risks of unhealthy use. Encourage no use (including of tobacco and alcohol) when planning pregnancy and dur- ing pregnancy.	
	Universal screening, brief intervention and referral to treatment during routine medical visits for all women of child-bearing age.	
2 – DURING PREGNANCY	Universally screen pregnant women for substance use and make referrals to treatment when appropriate.	
	Provide enhanced prenatal services, including referral to services in which coordination can occur with all relevant entities (hospitals, DCF, substance abuse treatment providers, etc.) prior to birth.	
3 – AT BIRTH	Use consistent and effective protocols for identification of substance- exposed newborns.	
	Make referrals for developmental or child welfare services.	
4 – THROUGH INFANCY	Provide developmental services.	
	Ensure an environment safe from abuse and neglect.	
	Respond to immediate needs of other family members, including treatment of the parent-child relationship.	
5 – THROUGH THE LIFE SPAN Identify and respo	Identify and respond to needs of exposed child.	
	Respond to needs of mother and other family members.	
	Provide for appropriate education, screening, and support as exposed chil- dren approach adolescence and adulthood to prevent adoption of high risk behaviors such as substance abuse.	

Reproductive Life Planning and Prevention

Over half of all pregnancies in the United States are unplanned [69], with the highest rates of unplanned pregnancies among women under the age of 24 with less than a high-school education. Thus, while many women report discontinuing the use of alcohol, tobacco, and illicit substances once they become aware they are pregnant [70], this is too late to prevent the birth of a substance-exposed child. Further,

Over half of all pregnancies in the United States are unplanned.

women who give birth to one substanceexposed child are at increased risk of delivering another [71]. For this reason, fertility planning and the preconception prevention of substance abuse for all women of reproductive age, beginning in pre-adolescence, is increasingly a focus of public health research, policy development and implementation [72].

The CDC takes a broad approach to preconception care and has issued recommendations and a strategic plan focused on preconception risk factors that adversely affect pregnancy outcomes, including alcohol and tobacco use⁵ [74]. Although the CDC recommendations and strategic plan focus on alcohol and tobacco, the approach is equally applicable to prenatal use of illicit substances and misuse of prescription medications. The actual recommendations are broad and cover the spectrum of preconception care from a public health perspective, and include:

- Increase public awareness of the importance of preconception health behaviors and care
- Encourage all individuals of reproductive age to have a reproductive life plan and engage in active family planning
- Encourage preventative visits in the form of risk assessment (including screening and educational and health promotion counseling for all women of childbearing age)
- Support inter-pregnancy care for women who had a previous pregnancy that ended in an adverse outcome, including prior delivery of a substance-exposed newborn
- Provide adequate health insurance coverage for women with low incomes [74].

"If even a fraction of what is spent dealing with the after-effects of prenatal substance exposure were to be devoted to prevention of that exposure, society would save significant amounts of money."

⁵Guidelines for women recommend no more than seven drinks per week and no more than three drinks on any single day; however this is zero for pregnant women and women planning to conceive [73].

It has been argued that, if even a fraction of what is spent dealing with the after-effects of prenatal substance exposure were to be devoted to prevention of exposure, society would save significant amounts of money. However, because many of the negative effects of prenatal substance exposure are not clear until years later, it is difficult for policymakers to make these up-front investments, particularly in times of severe budgetary constraints. Successful policy change requires educating policy makers to the individual and societal costs of not providing these services in a timely and appropriate manner.

Screening, Brief Intervention, and Referral to Treatment (SBIRT)

Protocols are available for providers to screen for unhealthy substance use, provide immediate feedback, counsel about behavior change, and refer a patient to specialty substance abuse treatment if appropriate. This process is known as SBIRT or Screening, Brief Intervention and Referral to Treatment.

In the general population in Massachusetts, about 74% of people who are screened are not using alcohol or drugs in ways that put their health at risk and, therefore, simply receive reinforcement for their current behavior and education [75]. Universal screening using validated tools can help find the remaining people and help them cut back or stop their unhealthy use. Thus, SBIRT can be appropriately used for any population but is a particularly



important intervention for all women of reproductive age, beginning in adolescence, whether pregnant or not. Universal screening of this population is important for several reasons: First, universal screening that asks about pregnancy status helps to assure that providers will not miss substance use that puts a mother or child at risk and provides an opportunity to educate the woman about the risks of use during pregnancy. Second, it reduces the stigma that occurs when only a portion of the population is screened and normalizes dialogue and education about substance use in the health care setting. Third, it can capture girls and women who may not be dependent but who, nonetheless, could benefit from a conversation about reducing or stopping their use—even for a period of time such as during pregnancy.⁶

⁶ It has been suggested that screening for substance use also should include screening for other factors such as depression and domestic violence. This has been piloted by DPH at community health centers [76].

States that have launched universal screening initiatives for all pregnant women include Virginia and Washington [71]; Massachusetts has not, but, as shown in the sidebar, the state has instituted the MASBIRT initiative aimed at increasing use of SBIRT in multiple settings and populations. DPH also has developed a provider tool kit designed to assist obstetricians and others as they provide prenatal care to women and facilitate the use of SBIRT.

SBIRT treats addiction as an end point in a continuum of use. Behavior change at any point along that continuum can prevent adverse outcomes, especially when high risk substance use is detected and addressed prior to progressing to substance dependence. The screening process also gives providers an opportunity to learn which patients are in recovery. In the case of pregnant women, this important information can help the health care team support recovery throughout pregnancy and the postpartum period, while avoiding prescribing medications that might lead to a relapse. There are several screening tools for identification of pregnant women engaged in prenatal substance consumption. Despite the existence of practice guidelines and recommendations related to SBIRT for pregnant women, many prenatal care providers do not routinely screen pregnant patients. Further, a large number of practitioners who do screen fail to use instruments validated for pregnant women and feel uncomfortable about their ability to appropriately refer to treatment if needed [18, 77, 78].

The MASBIRT Initiative

The Massachusetts Department of Public Health (DPH) Bureau of Substance Abuse Services (BSAS) is in the final year of managing a fiveyear SAMHSA SBIRT project that is focused on implementation of SBIRT in health care settings ranging from primary care offices and clinics to inpatient hospital floors and emergency departments. Although MASBIRT reaches beyond pregnant women to a much larger segment of the population, the initiative has screened over 127,000 people including many women of childbearing age.

The MASBIRT project also developed a medical school SBIRT curriculum and is in the early stages of developing an interactive web-based screening tool for use in healthcare settings as a time-saving device for providers. DPH is assisting in the development of a toolkit that, when final, will be made available to all OB/GYNs in the Commonwealth. This toolkit will encompass more than simply substance use and will include screening for the related areas of depression and domestic violence. By distributing the toolkit to all OB/GYNs, the DPH is sending a strong message that unhealthy or problematic substance use and other issues are not confined to women from disadvantaged backgrounds.

Reasons given for failure to provide prenatal SBIRT include: inability to obtain reimbursement, lack of time, lack of familiarity with screening procedures and referral options, lack of information and misinformation about substance use among women generally and during pregnancy specifically, doubts about the benefits of treatment, discomfort with the subject, and cultural and language barriers [18, 78, 79]. With regard to screening for any substance use in pregnant women, health care providers also may have concern about the implications of mandated reporting requirements in situations that may require a breach of confidentiality [78]. All such impediments to appropriate prenatal screening must be addressed if screening is to be routinely conducted for all women of childbearing age or all pregnant women.

One stumbling block to screening has been the inability to obtain reimbursement, but some reimbursement is now available. In 2007 and 2008, the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services (CMS) added procedure codes to Medicaid and Medicare to permit providers to record and seek reimbursement for both Screenings and Brief Interventions (Medicaid) and Brief Intervention Counseling Time (Medicare) [80]. For Medicaid, however, these codes must be implemented individually by each state in order for the provider to obtain reimbursement. Over 20 states have added SBIRT to their Medicaid programs, but Massachusetts has not vet done so [81]. The American Medical Association also has developed codes for the brief intervention counseling and some commercial payers do reimburse. Physicians can also use general patient counseling codes or bill using a higher level code as they would, for example, when counseling a patient about reducing a new high blood pressure reading. As the health care system moves towards global payments, codes such as these may be less necessary. What will become even more important is the continued development and use of quality measures that quantify providers' use of SBIRT, such as exist for women of reproductive age within

the Indian Health Service [82], and which hold providers accountable for this important intervention.

Services for Pregnant Women

Although early and brief intervention can be very useful during pregnancy when many women may have an increased desire to stop substance use

.....

Prenatal Exposure to Methadone vs. Buprenorphine or Subutex

At least one recent study shows that prenatal buprenorphine or Subutex exposure may produce less severe withdrawal in newborns than methadone [1]. At this time, additional research is needed in this area. What remains essential is that opioid dependent women and their care providers medically manage the condition during pregnancy to minimize harm to the developing fetus and prevent maternal relapse.

[64], not all women with problematic patterns of substance use will be able to interrupt such use on their own. Some women may need intensive specialty treatment, on either an inpatient, residential, or outpatient basis. A number of issuescan arise in such treatment settings specific to women during pregnancy, some of which are addressed in a recent BSAS provider guide for medically monitored treatment for pregnant women, including the need for obstetric care and careful detoxification [83].

Any type of residential or inpatient treatment for pregnant women requires additional supports, including but not limited to obstetric care [64]. In most programs, this is accomplished on a case by case basis, with the woman in treatment being transported to an outside medical provider for obstetric care. Although most programs build successful relationships with obstetric groups or individual obstetricians, it may be problematic to rely on such ad hoc arrangements. In addition to finding a health care practitioner who will accept the available insurance, some practitioners are reluctant to form what might be a short term relationship, lasting only for the duration of the woman's stay in the residential facility, particularly with a woman who may also be experiencing a higher risk pregnancy due to substance use.

Although pregnant women typically can participate in alcohol detoxification, there are complications associated with detoxification for pregnant women dependent on opioids or sedativehypnotics. Sudden withdrawal, as well as repeated relapses, can lead to fetal withdrawal and distress, with resulting pre-term birth and attendant complications, and occasional fetal death. Thus, although the maintenance medications used as part of detoxification, such as methadone or Subutex, may have an effect on the fetus, it is generally considered best practice to start or continue a pregnant woman on substitute medication rather than to withhold it [64, 84].

The needs for consistent obstetric care and continuous medication assisted treatment can be stumbling blocks upon transition from one level of care to another. Obtaining continuous methadone coverage can be difficult if a woman can only obtain treatment or services (such as housing) by relocating to a different community or neighborhood. Locating inpatient or residential facilities, and all other necessary services, where women live alleviates this problem, as may the development of medical homes, where all care is coordinated from a single provider and behavioral health care is better integrated with primary care.

Identification of Substance-Affected Newborns and Referral to Services at Birth

Ideally, more pregnancies would be planned so that substance exposure during even the earliest stages of pregnancy is avoided, and universal screening using validated tools by primary care and obstetric providers would lead to abstinence or treatment entry during the remaining months of pregnancy. Until then, identification of substance-affected newborns at delivery is critical in ensuring appropriate treatment and referrals.

At birth, some infants may present with an immediate need for medical management of their prenatal substance exposure. All substance-affected infants, including those not requiring medical management while in the hospital, are considered at risk for future developmental problems or for abuse or neglect. Thus, hospitals must: (1) identify substance-affected newborns; (2) medically manage infants experiencing adverse effects of substance exposure, particularly withdrawal or "neonatal abstinence syndrome"; (3) notify the state child welfare agency, the Department of Children and Families (DCF), of the birth of a substance-affected newborn for screening of the infant's risk of experiencing abuse or neglect; and (4) refer newborns for developmental assessment and potential services through Early Intervention (EI). Other states, including Arizona, New Mexico, Rhode Island, Virginia and Washington have undertaken comprehensive approaches to part or all of this process [85, 86].

1. Federal Requirements for Identification and Care

The Child Abuse Prevention and Treatment Act (CAPTA) [87] provides directives for states to identify and treat very young children who have experienced or may be at risk of abuse and neglect. CAPTA, as amended by the Keeping Children and Families Safe Act of 2003 and the CAPTA Reauthorization Act of 2010, requires states to develop policies and procedures to address the needs of infants identified as being affected by illegal substance abuse or withdrawal symptoms resulting from prenatal drug exposure, or by FASD, including:

- referrals to child protective services and other appropriate services
- requiring that health care providers involved in the delivery or care of such infants notify child protective services
- development of a plan of safe care for the infant [87].

Taken together, CAPTA and the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (IDEA) mandate that states also develop procedures for referral of any child under the age of three who is either: (1) involved in a substantiated case of child abuse or neglect, or (2) identified as affected by illegal substance abuse or withdrawal symptoms resulting from prenatal exposure, to Early Intervention (EI) developmental services funded under IDEA. For



a known substance affected newborn, referral to EI is an obligation independent of any determination of abuse or neglect [88].

2. Identification of Substance-Affected Newborns

Identification of substance-affected newborns can occur in several ways. including verbal screening of the mother using a validated tool (as is done with SBIRT), toxicological screening of the newborn, or through observation of the mother or newborn. Review of the mother's electronic health records, where available, and communication between the delivering doctor and the child's pediatrician also may be a resource in the future, if privacy concerns can be alleviated via informed consent. Although none of these methods will independently capture all substance-affected newborns, comprehensive and consistent systems of identification can provide a viable framework. One state that has developed such as framework is Rhode Island, through the Vulnerable Infant Program (VIP), which entails provider identification of newborns who display symptoms of substanceexposure and referral of those newborns for a neurobehavioral exam, with the results of the neurobehavioral exam dictating whether referral to child welfare and EI occur.

The Massachusetts Department of Public Health (DPH) has been examining the issue of identification of substance-affected newborns, and currently is surveying birthing hospitals around the state to determine what practices are being used. Preliminary findings suggest there is little consistency between hospitals, or even within individual hospitals, as to when screening occurs, how it is conducted, and, when toxicological screening does take place, which substances are tested for [89]. Without clear procedures and protocols, many substance-affected newborns may not be identified and fail to receive appropriate treatment or referrals.

Typical reasons Massachusetts birthing hospitals gave for conducting toxicological screening at birth included certain objectively verifiable criteria related to either the infant or the mother. Infant characteristics included prematurity or low birth weight. Maternal characteristics included acknowledged use of either illegal drugs or medications for the treatment of opioid dependency, a history of substance use, or visibly appearing to be under the influence of substances at the time of birth. Other criteria for conducting a toxicological screening of either the mother or the newborn were more subjective, including "clinical suspicion" [89].

Unfortunately, subjective criteria and the inconsistent application of ostensibly objective criteria often result in toxicological screening being more common for women already disadvantaged by race, class and ethnicity. This problem has existed for years [90] and a recent study demonstrated that, even when a hospital had clear criteria to determine whether toxicological screening should occur, minority infants still were screened at three to four times the rate of white infants, and often not in accordance with hospital criteria [91].

3. Screening For and Medical Management of Neonatal Abstinence Syndrome and Other Substance-Related Complications

There are clinical criteria for assessing and treating infants with neonatal abstinence syndrome (NAS) due to opioid and polysubstance exposure [92], for assessing infants born exposed to cocaine [93], and for assessing infants with FAS and FASD [94-100]. Despite the existence of such guidelines for assessment, a national survey of accredited fellowship programs in Neonatal-Perinatal Medicine in the United States revealed that only 55% had a written policy regarding management of NAS. A number of the respondents indicated that they either did not use an abstinence scoring system or did not use validated systems recognized as appropriate by the American Academy of Pediatrics (AAP). Only 70% of those who responded stated that they routinely used a scoring system to determine when to start or terminate treatment of the infant or to determine what dose of medication to use. The survey also indicated wide disparity rather than consistent compliance with AAP guidelines for treatment [101]. Having appropriate screening in place is important, especially with the skyrocketing problem of

prescription drug abuse, particularly opioids [102].

4. Notifying the Department of Children and Families

In addition to the requirements of CAPTA, under Massachusetts law hospitals are required to notify the Department of Children and Families (DCF) when any newborn is identified as "physically dependent upon an addictive drug at birth" [103], a requirement more narrow than that of CAPTA and one that does not include most substance -affected newborns, and certainly not most substance-exposed newborns. The Massachusetts DPH preliminary survey of birthing hospitals indicates that although hospitals have different protocols for when screening takes place, when screening does occur, all hospitals seem to report the birth of an infant identified as substance-affected to DCF through the filing of a 51A report. In fact, some birthing hospitals file a 51A report when an infant is born to a mother with a history of substance abuse, even without toxicological screening of either mother or child at the time of birth [89].

Current DCF regulations classify newborns identified as "addicted" at birth as having experienced physical injury [104]. Cases of physical injury are almost inevitably screened in, meaning that a DCF case is opened so that the agency can look at the effect parental substance use has on the care and safety of the child. The procedure typically followed by DCF upon receiving a report of a substance-exposed newborn is that a case is screened in for investigation. Investigated cases may be closed, or proceed from investigation to assessment. Once a case is opened for assessment, and the infant has been medically cleared for discharge from the hospital, there is a further determination of whether the child should be allowed to go home with his or her mother, with DCF providing protective supervision; or placed, temporarily or permanently, with another caretaker. DCF can also decide, after any length of time with protective supervision, to remove the child from the parent's custody and place the child with another caretaker

In Massachusetts, screening for abuse or potential neglect is done by DCF. However, we encountered three distinct models for such screening in other states, specifically: (1) those, such as Rhode Island, where the screening for abuse/neglect potential and recommendations for a service plan was conducted by the hospital; (2) those, such as Missouri, where there is a separate statewide child welfare investigation unit to evaluate all substance-exposed newborns to maintain statewide consistency in response; and (3) those, like the current Massachusetts model, in which the report is made to the local DCF Area Office. Regardless of the model employed, the most important features of any screening and assessment process are objectivity, uniformity, and consistent application.

DCF 51A PROCESS

SCREENING: If report involves a substance exposed newborn it is always screened in.



INVESTIGATION: All available information is used to determine if infant is at risk of abuse or neglect.



ASSESSMENT: Based on the needs of the parents and child, the child may remain in parental custody with protective supervision, or be removed from parental custody and placed with another caretaker.

Assessment is on-going in an open case and can result in a decision to close, to remove the child to another placement, or to return a child in placement to parental care.



CLOSURE: DCF case is closed upon parent's satisfactory completion of services deemed necessary to ensure the child's safety or following legal process to termination parental rights if child is permanently placed with a permanent guardian or adopted.

> Interviewees report that there is currently significant variation in how DCF responds to similar factors in 51A reports. Such variation has been reported not only across but also within specific regions and offices, and seems most common in

cases involving exposure to marijuana and/or medication assisted treatment, such as methadone. After receiving a 51A involving a substance-affected newborn, DCF is obligated to screen the case in for investigation, to utilize collateral sources of information, and to use all available information to determine risk and safety issues for the child. This means DCF responds to many facts and circumstances beyond the report by the hospital. This may account for some perceived inconsistencies. DCF continues to strive for statewide consistency in responding to 51As, yet it appears from conversations with providers, particularly birthing hospitals, that such consistency has not yet been attained.

In one effort to improve consistency with respect to treatment of opioid dependency, DCF is looking at adopting a policy of not opening a case when a 51A report on a substance-affected newborn is received and all three of the following are verified as true:

- The only drug affecting the newborn was methadone, buprenorphine (or a related medication such as Subutex) or another appropriately prescribed and used medication;
- The medication was used as part of treatment and was used as authorized (which must be verified by a medical or other provider); and
- There are no other issues of abuse or neglect or risk to the

child, as determined by available information, including documentation of any prior DCF involvement.

It is anticipated that this will eliminate DCF involvement in cases where the mother is participating appropriately in treatment for opioid dependency and there are no other concerns, which reportedly currently occurs, and where all stakeholders seem to be in agreement that a different response is necessary.

5. Early Intervention

Federal law requires that all newborns identified as "affected by illegal substance abuse or withdrawal symptoms resulting from prenatal drug exposure" be referred to a local Early Intervention (EI) provider to determine eligibility for developmental services [88]. This referral requirement does not, however, automatically capture every child affected by substances, as exposure may not be known and some delays may not manifest until later in the child's development.

The opportunity to receive EI services is mandated by federal legislation for children aged birth through three who meet certain criteria. Children who are not eligible the first time they are referred may be re-referred at a later time as part of developmental monitoring or as concerns arise. Each state receives federal funding to provide EI services. In Massachusetts, DPH is the lead EI agency, with assessment and services delivered through local EI providers approved by DPH.

Eligibility criteria for EI include that a child is: (1) not reaching ageappropriate milestones in one or more areas of development; (2) diagnosed with a specific physical, emotional, or cognitive condition that may result in a developmental delay (including FAS); or (3) at risk for developmental delay due to various biological and/or environmental factors such as those identified in the sidebar.⁷ Thus, even if a child does not present with one of the specific diagnoses in criterion 2, many substance-exposed children do satisfy criteria 1 or 3.

QUALIFYING FOR Early Intervention THROUGH MULTIPLE RISK FACTORS

To be eligible for EI due to known risk factors for developmental delay, children and their families must present with four or more individual or environmental risk factors. Some of these risk factors may be present in substance exposed newborns, including:

- *Low birth weight or premature birth
- *Maternal age less than 17
- *Multiple family traumas or losses
- *Substance abuse in the home
- *Parental chronic illness or disability affecting care-giving ability
- *DCF involvement
- *Documented prenatal substance exposure
- *Family lack of social supports

*Suspected central nervous system abnormalities If a child is deemed eligible for EI and the family accepts services, the local provider works with the family to create an Individual Family Service Plan, with goals and services specific to the child's needs. Depending on those needs, an EI team may include educators/ developmental specialists, physical therapists, speech-language pathologists, psychologists, occupational therapists, social workers, nurses, and other specialty service providers. EI is family centered and acceptance of screening or services is voluntary. Thus, an infant's caretaker may elect not to take advantage of EI, with the result that eligible children may not receive services

A conservative estimate of the number of Massachusetts children born exposed to controlled substances between 1998 and 2005 (7,350), found that 60% were referred at least once to EI before their third birthday, and 42%multiple times, with only 15% of those referrals being made by hospitals. Of the children referred, 88% were evaluated, out of which 90% were eligible and 93% of those enrolled in services [106]. Multiple EI referrals for substance-exposed newborns are particularly appropriate. Many substanceexposed newborns may develop at typical rates in early infancy. Rereferral, at 6 month intervals, ensures that any latent developmental concerns are rapidly identified and remediated during infancy.

⁷ Although FASD is not an identified condition for EI, as FAS is, there is now a screening tool designed specifically for use in EI assessment to identify risk for children prenatally exposed to alcohol. [105]

EI for infants who are "at risk" is helpful in preventing the emergence of developmental delays [107, 108], including those brought about by heavy cocaine exposure [109]. Access to and use of EI can be costeffective although cost estimates associated specifically with substance-exposed children are lacking. Estimates of total EI costs for children delivered preterm (a common occurrence in substanceexposed newborns) ranged from \$1933 to \$6611 (2011 dollars) over three years in Massachusetts [58, 110]. This early intervention for those born preterm, however, should be considered in conjunction with figures from another study that estimated average monthly expenditures ranging from \$656 to \$1318 in 2004, depending on level of disability, with total expenditures per child ranging from \$7442 to \$26,856 in 2011 dollars [58, 111], which might be more representative of costs associated with children with more severe substance-related disabilities.

Service Provision for Mothers to Minimize the Effects of Substance Exposure Through Infancy

If a woman is identified as in need of substance abuse services, she can be referred to one or more programs that provide services to adults with substance abuse problems. These programs may be residential or outpatient and may or may not be designed to accommodate pregnant or parenting women.

1. Residential Treatment

Residential treatment, which may follow a period in detoxification, can be voluntary or involuntary, the latter of which includes incarceration and civil commitment. Some women also may involuntarily enter treatment in order to satisfy a DCF requirement for retaining or regaining custody.

a. Voluntary Residential Treatment

The Bureau of Substance Abuse Services (BSAS) funds a number of voluntary women's residential treatment programs, eight family residential treatment programs, and two sober living programs. At each program, treating pregnant women is a priority. Most of the women's residential treatment programs have up to four slots for pregnant/postpartum women. The women's residential treatment programs cannot admit the children of the women other than newborn infants up to six months of age. Under these circumstances, some women decline to enter, or chose to leave treatment because of the need for separation, out of concern for older children's well-being, or due to fears that they will lose custody of children while in residential treatment. For this reason, the comprehensive family residential treatment model is the preferred treatment model. BSAS funds eight family residential treatment programs that provide services to

pregnant and parenting women and their children These programs can and do admit all children of all ages in the family. Family residential treatment programs serve between 175 and 250 families a year, with an estimated one-quarter to onethird of the women served being pregnant during their treatment. Many families served are homeless and the programs work to find housing, on-going medical care, continuing treatment, day care, and WIC for the families before they leave. The biggest challenges reported include finding post-treatment housing and day care, and finding a treating psychiatrist for the women while they are in the program. These programs often have a waiting list for entry [112].

The parent(s) and children in these programs currently receive trauma-informed treatment through the federal grant funded *Project BRIGHT*, which treats traumatic stress in children from birth to age 5 and their parents, helping them deal with trauma symptoms and build resilience. Older children are offered the evidence-informed *WELL Child* group intervention, also designed to deal with the trauma experienced by these children.

The two sober living programs are designed to admit women and their children posttreatment, until they can find permanent housing. BSAS also funds Supportive Case Management in Community Housing Programs, which provides permanent housing for families and children when a family member is in recovery from a substance use disorder.

b. Incarceration as Residential Treatment

Massachusetts appropriately treats prenatal substance abuse as a public health rather than a criminal issue. The state does not incarcerate women for the "crime" of exposing their fetus to illegal drugs. Nonetheless, the penal system still plays a significant role in the residential treatment of pregnant and parenting women with substance abuse disorders and it does provide an opportunity to deliver services to mothers of substanceexposed newborns, which may increase opportunities for positive outcomes for both these mothers and their children.

The Massachusetts Department of Corrections (DOC) provides substance abuse treatment for incarcerated women at the MCI-Framingham facility, and, where appropriate, treatment at the DOC Opioid Treatment Program, which is run by UMASS Correctional Health. The DOC program designed for pregnant and post-partum inmates is known as Catch the Hope and involves weekly prenatal classes, individual counseling, prenatal care, infant custody planning for those who will deliver during incarceration, and discharge planning, which includes post-release substance abuse treatment or recovery support. Pregnant and parenting women awaiting trial or serving shorter sentences may be detained in county correctional facilities rather than MCI-Framingham. Although it is beyond the scope of this brief to review practices at all facilities, we learned about specific services available at Hampden County Correctional Facility in Western Massachusetts, which include a doula program for pregnant inmates, substance abuse treatment, preemployment training, parenting classes, supervised parent-child time, domestic violence awareness and education programs, and discharge planning for follow-up services in the community.

Despite these positive practices, non-evidence-based practices continue within Massachusetts corrections, such as reportedly requiring women to discontinue methadone treatment after giving birth. In addition, the Commonwealth remains one of a few states to shackle pregnant women both for transportation and during medical visits, including on the way to give birth [113]. Thus, the correctional system in Massachusetts presents a mixed picture where pregnant women are involved.

Hampden County Corrections Doula Program

At Hampden County Correctional Facility, a program, funded by DPH using short-term federal grant money, pairs pregnant inmates with *doulas*, who become birth coaches accompanying women to prenatal appointments and meeting the woman at the birthing hospital to assist with labor and delivery. This service is particularly important for inmates with substance abuse and histories, who may need support in dealing with the pain of childbirth without inappropriate utilization of pain medication. In the likely event an inmate has a history of trauma, such support can help prevent appointments, transportation and the birth experience from being re-traumatizing.

c. Civil Commitment at the Women's Addiction Treatment Center

Massachusetts permits individuals to be civilly committed for no longer than 30 days if their abuse of alcohol or controlled substances "substantially injures [their] health or substantially interferes with [their] social or economic functioning, or [they have] lost the power of self-control over the use of such [substances]" [114]. The Women's Addiction Treatment Center (WATC) in New Bedford serves most pregnant and parenting substance abusing women committed for treatment, although some are civilly committed to MCI-Framingham.

The WATC has 84 beds, and treats approximately four or five civilly committed pregnant women each month. The majority of women admitted to the WATC are young and the most frequently used drugs are opiates (both heroin and prescription drugs), cocaine, and benzodiazepines. Women tend not to be in treatment because of alcohol dependence, although they frequently abuse alcohol in addition to opiates. A large number of these women have a co-occurring mental health disorder (51% of those admitted in 2010 had prescribed psychiatric medications), and a number have Hepatitis C and/or HIV. Most of the women admitted already have children (56% in 2010), but because civil commitment is a treatment of last resort, most do not have custody.

Pregnant women are always prioritized for admission to the WATC but still may have to wait for an opening. This all-female facility satisfies gender responsive treatment criteria and the persons we interviewed also recognized the need for traumainformed services. The WATC has a full-time psychiatrist and a medical doctor. It provides three levels of service: 1) Acute Treatment Services (ATS) or "detox," 2) Clinical Stabilization Services (CSS) or "rehab," and 3) Transitional Support Services (TSS) for transition planning and care. Women may stay in the transitional care facility as long as necessary in order to locate a suitable next placement and are not discharged without a suitable placement.

2. Outpatient Treatment

Outpatient treatment is an alternative to residential treatment, allowing women to remain at home, near family or other supports. The greatest drawback to relying on outpatient treatment is the insufficient number of comprehensive programs providing services to pregnant and parenting women beyond substance abuse treatment, such as housing support, education, job training and assistance, mental health services, day care, after school care, and therapeutic services and recreational opportunities for children. Two examples of treatment programs that offer comprehensive outpatient services are the Shields for Families program near Los Angeles and Meta House in Milwaukee. The Vulnerable Infants Program (VIP) in Rhode Island also provides a broad array of services, many of which (e.g., HIV pre/post-test counseling, prenatal and postnatal care, primary medical care, family planning, entitlement assistance) have been successful in moving families towards self-sufficiency [85].

Creating comprehensive community -based programs can be challenging given today's budget constraints. One alternative is to provide effective treatment through a network of independent service providers where case management, referral and coordination provide broader access to a wider range of services for families with substanceaffected newborns. The peer recovery worker model, home-based services, and Family Treatment Drug Courts (FTDCs) are three promising models for improving community-based treatment.

a. Peer Recovery Worker Case Coordination – *A Helping Hand* and *FRESH Start*

The peer recovery worker model, in which a consumer of behavioral health services becomes part of a treatment provision team [115], was first explored by DPH in the A Helping Hand program, which was piloted at three sites around the state between 2005 and 2009, and is currently being further developed at the FRESH Start program in Hampden County. A peer recovery worker, also called a peer mentor, is provided to a pregnant or parenting mother with a substance abuse problem. The peer recovery worker is another mother in recovery from substance abuse.

The primary services the peer recovery worker provides to clients are recovery coaching, care coordination, and parenting support, while also serving as a role model in recovery and parenting. FRESH Start also has a clinician on staff, to support clients' clinical needs, and offers parenting and GED preparation groups, which address women's needs for skill development and social connection. The peer recovery worker assists clients in following through with referrals to the myriad services that are necessary to ensure comprehensive treatment, and supports clients in managing day -to-day issues faced by parents of substance-exposed newborns while navigating DCF and other systems involvement[116]. This is done not only by meeting with clients and responding to emergent concerns, but by making phone calls, providing or arranging transportation, and accompanying the client to meetings with state agency personnel or service providers. Such tasks are often considered cost-ineffective or too time intensive to be conducted by professional case managers or service delivery professionals, but can make an enormous difference in the degree of follow-through with referrals or engagement in services by parents of substance-exposed newborns. The peer recovery worker can alleviate a new mother's stress of having to navigate multiple services on her own while learning how to parent as a person in recovery.

A Helping Hand and FRESH Start were mentioned by almost every interviewee we spoke to to in Western Massachusetts, whether affiliated with DPH. DCF, or other service providers, and by many interviewees in other parts of the Commonwealth. These programs and the peer recovery worker model were identified as reflecting a promising practice for increasing service entry and treatment completion by mothers of substance-exposed newborns. Although the promising results of A Helping Hand and FRESH *Start* are largely anecdotal, they are consistent with the benefits of the peer provided services model identified in research literature [115].

b. Home-Based Services – *Family Recovery Project*

The Family Recovery Project is another pilot project underway in Hampden County, serving families referred by DCF where parental substance abuse is an issue and children are at imminent risk of removal from the home or have been placed outside the home with the goal of reunification. Services, which can include parenting support, care coordination, and substance use disorder and mental health treatment, are provided in the home to all members of the family who need services.

Unlike the peer recovery worker model, the *Family Recovery Project* relies on masters level clinicians for service delivery. The intensive home-based services provided are not otherwise available in the Hampden County area and are not reimbursed by any thirdparty payers. The five year grant from the federal Administration for Children and Families which currently funds the program will end in the summer of 2012.

c. Family Treatment Drug Courts

With the exception of treatment during civil commitment or incarceration, most services to improve outcomes for substanceexposed newborns are voluntary. If, however, DCF opens a case in connection with a substanceaffected newborn, the mother may be expected to participate in certain programs as a condition of DCF closing its case. Court involvement sometimes can help ensure that mothers participate in services, including substance abuse treatment, obtaining an assessment of the child's needs for EI, or necessary medical follow-up to the child's substance exposure.

In Massachusetts, the Juvenile Court Department accommodates all families with issues of abuse and neglect. When parental substance abuse is one of the presenting problems, Family Treatment Drug Courts (FTDCs), which do not exist in Massachusetts, provide an alternative model of court intervention. FTDCs typically incorporate the following:

- A team approach to case management, including representatives from the judicial system, the child welfare system and treatment systems;
- Frequent, perhaps weekly court appearances;
- Treatment systems including, but not limited to, substance abuse services;
- Frequent drug testing;
- A system of rewards and sanctions linked to service compliance [117, 118].

One of the primary ways in which FTDCs differ from adult drug courts is that the ultimate incentive for the parents is not avoiding jail time, but the hope of reunification with, or retained custody of, their children [119].

As of July 2010, there were 267 FTDCs in 38 states and an additional 31 programs were being planned [120]. Evaluations of FTDCs show successful substance abuse treatment outcomes for parents and successful outcomes related to child custody [117, 119]. FTDCs can be more effective than traditional courts within the Juvenile Court Department in overseeing children in out-of-home care, in obtaining parental compliance with substance abuse treatment and in increasing the number of children reunified with their parents. These positive outcomes have been documented in many states,

including California and Rhode Island.

Beyond Infancy – Services Through the Life Span

As children grow and develop and, in particular, as they enter school and then adolescence, evidence of disabilities linked to prenatal exposure may surface [12, 27, 34, 121]. There are multidisciplinary programs in several states that offer comprehensive services, including diagnosis by clinical geneticists, counseling, family therapy and education, behavioral therapy, speech and occupational therapy, and treatment by developmental pediatricians. Examples include the Fetal Alcohol Syndrome and Drug Exposure Center in Atlanta, Georgia, and the Brown Center for the Study of Children at Risk in Providence, Rhode Island. Two practitioners at Boston Children's Hospital have established a virtual clinic that draws on their areas of expertise, specifically as a clinical geneticist (Dr. Joan Stoler) and as a developmental behavioral pediatrician (Dr. Lisa Albers-Prock), with the goal of eventually expanding into a more comprehensive program. As is true of treatment for women with substance use disorders, the importance of having comprehensive, coordinated services for substance-affected children at a single location might be ideal, but strong networks among existing service providers can be effective and are likely more feasible in the current health care funding climate.

Although parental substance abuse is not a *per se* reason for placing a substance-exposed newborn in out-of-home care,
many children born with prenatal substance-related disabilities are appropriately removed from parental care. One provider views such separations as an opportunity to work effectively with an entire family system (i.e., the adoptive or foster family) where the caregivers are not "in the trenches in terms of substance use" while simultaneously trying to deal with the child's impairments. This may be particularly appropriate for children who present with complex medical or behavioral needs, which may or may not relate directly to substance exposure, or in situations where birth parents are limited in ways that may or may not relate to substance use. On the other hand, children placed in foster care, especially those with behavioral problems, frequently cycle through many placements, impeding normal development and attachment processes. Thus, permanent out of home care, whether institutional or in a foster or adoptive home, carries a large price tag, and must be carefully weighed against the alternative of providing services in the parental home, including services to assist children with on-going parental substance use.

One major challenge is that there is no comprehensive algorithm for how to treat individuals who were born with substance-related disabilities. Unlike diabetes, for example, where there are clear diagnostic criteria and evidencebased interventions, that is not the case with many substance-related disabilities. Evidence for science-based interventions is weak, many individuals are polysubstance-exposed with complicated repercussions, and many live in a challenging environment where substance abuse continues and other problems exist. Moreover, some individuals born substance-exposed may have other non-substance-related disabilities.

Although certain sequelae of prenatal substance exposure can be treated (e.g., anxiety, mood disorders) or accommodated (e.g., learning disabilities), problems associated with executive functioning deficits such as attention, impulse control and aggression may remain [121-123]. In the most extreme cases, these may necessitate around the clock intervention and supervision. Nor do individuals grow out of these disabilities. Many individuals with FASD, and some exposed to substances other than alcohol, have executive functioningrelated issues of behavior and judgment. In adolescence and adulthood such deficits may lead to unplanned pregnancies, legal problems, and substance abuse [e.g., 123, 124].

EI services are more easily accessed than are the services that are needed after children reach age three. Many substance-exposed newborns will qualify for EI services due to the existence of multiple risk factors, but there is no similar qualification for special educational services. Both federal and state laws require either a documented developmental delay or other disability before a child is eligible for special education services. Thus, most children who were substanceexposed in utero must first attempt school without specific supports. Only if they begin to demonstrate academic delays or serious emotional or behavioral difficulties will they become eligible for special education services. This means that parents raising children

who were substance-exposed should remain vigilant in monitoring academic progress and seek help as soon as the need for support emerges.

There are resources designed to help caregivers educate school systems on how to manage the often challenging behaviors of substance-exposed children, as well as specific resources for educators. Examples include resources from the CDC [125] and SAMHSA [126].

> FASD "is a permanent impairment. Like autism, it is a brain-based disorder."

After children "age out" of the educational system, and, sometimes even before, they may qualify for services such as those provided by the Department of Mental Health (DMH) if they have a significant mental health diagnosis, or by the Department of Developmental Services (DDS) if they are found to have significant cognitive impairment with functional disabilities. As state resources are stretched however, these services cannot be guaranteed. One provider interviewed noted that she has seen children with even Moderate Intellectual Disabilities (those with an IQ between 35 and 55) found not to qualify for DDS services. She also noted that, because the disabilities associated with prenatal substance exposure do not fit neatly into one category, parents are not able to apply to a single agency for help.

As individuals enter adulthood, the challenge of knowing where to go for

services becomes even more difficult. Lack of coordination in this regard is a major challenge for families and providers in Massachusetts and better coordination, especially as young people transition into early adulthood, is crucial. At this point, the connection to prenatal substance exposure may not matter in terms of treatment. All children with disabilities should receive appropriate care, including transition to adulthood and adult services.

Priorities for the Commonwealth

Returning to the five intervention points for preventing the birth of substance-affected newborns, and ameliorating the individual and social costs of substance affected children, we make the following recommendations, cognizant of the state's limited resources and the need to balance many competing demands:

PRECONCEPTION and DURING PREGNANCY:

- Although health warnings caution women of the risks of using alcohol and tobacco during pregnancy, there have been no large scale media campaigns or mass distribution of materials to educate the public about the need for fertility planning and pre-pregnancy cessation of both illegal and legal substance use. Such efforts, as well as peer to peer, culturally appropriate grass roots messaging are important to alter behaviors before conception and during pregnancy.
- Universal screening, brief intervention for those whose substance use is unhealthy, and referral to treatment

where indicated (SBIRT) is not routinely performed for all women of childbearing age, or even for all pregnant women, but should become a universal practice in medical care in Massachusetts, with quality performance measures adopted to track compliance.

- Add screening procedure codes for Mass Health (Massachusetts Medicaid) to ensure availability of Medicaid reimbursement for both preconception and prenatal SBIRT. Encourage more private insurers to adopt SBIRT reimbursement as well.
- Effective service delivery models for pregnant and parenting women with substance use disorders can include inpatient treatment, voluntary or involuntary residential treatment, or community based treatment of varying intensity, including medication assisted treatment (such as methadone). Massachusetts currently has an appropriate variety of substance abuse treatment programs, but should work on expanding the number of such programs in different areas of the state with demonstrated need, particularly those like FRESH Start that serve both pregnant and parenting women and are able to facilitate coordination between the multiple agencies and services with which women with past or present substance use disorders are likely to be involved.
- Equip all detoxification facilities with the knowledge and resources to feel comfortable serving pregnant women.

AT BIRTH:

- Birthing hospitals in the Commonwealth follow a variety of inconsistent practices when a woman delivers a substanceexposed newborn. All hospitals should have consistent written protocols in place to ensure objective nondiscriminatory screening when there are concerns that a newborn may be substance-exposed. The state should provide guidance on the content of the protocols.
- As DPH establishes criteria for identification of substance-affected infants by birthing hospitals, consider including requirements for use of evidence-based infant treatment when substance-exposure complications surface.
- As Massachusetts seeks to enhance or reform its processes for ensuring appropriate identification, treatment and referral at birth, consider approaches taken in other states to enhance cross-systems coordination, efficiency and thoroughness.
- Explore the possibility of using electronic hospital administrative records to identify women who come into contact with substance-related services during pregnancy (inpatient, emergency, and observational stays) and whose record includes substance-related diagnosis or treatment codes; such identification could trigger referral to an Early Intervention Partnership Program (EIPP) and/or to Early Intervention (EI) to support the mother and developmental needs of the child.

- Explore ways to facilitate communication between ob/gyns and pediatricians to allow connection of pregnancy issues to the child's medical record and permit accurate diagnosis of the child as he/she ages.
- Federal law requires that all newborns • identified as affected by illegal substance abuse or withdrawal symptoms resulting from prenatal substance exposure, or by FASD, be reported to DCF to allow assessment of the risk of neglect or abuse. No law requires DCF to open a case or to remove an infant from the parents' care. Many parents, even those who might struggle with substance use, can parent effectively, especially if they and their children are identified and provided with appropriate supports. In other situations the most appropriate response to the birth of a substance-exposed newborn is placement with substitute caregivers on a temporary or permanent basis. Decisions as to when and how to become involved following the birth of a substance exposed newborn are complex and multifaceted. Present variation between DCF workers, offices and regions, might be responded to by enhanced coordination to assure consistent, equitable responses.
- Increase referrals to EI by birth hospitals rather than continuing to rely primarily on DCF for EI referral.
- EI eligibility should be automatic for at least six months for any substance exposed newborn.
- Explore alternatives to the practices of requiring women in the custody of the Department of Corrections (DOC) or county correctional facilities to

terminate medication assisted treatment after giving birth and to be shackled during transportation for childbirth.

THROUGH INFANCY AND THE LIFE SPAN:

- Alcohol is the substance known to have the most severe potential impact on child development and, with the exception of tobacco, is the substance to which prenatal exposure is most common. The Commonwealth should integrate universal Fetal Alcohol Spectrum Disorder (FASD) screening into EI programs and increase EI provider training on intervention strategies for all substance-exposed children.
- Expand the comprehensive, family centered, trauma informed treatment options currently existing in Massachusetts to additional locations within the state. Ideally, this would include:
 - An additional site for civilly committed women in Western Massachusetts
 - Additional residential family treatment programs
 - Supporting the development of comprehensive community based treatment either at single sites or through networks of providers within a community
 - Refining and replicating the best aspects of the peer recovery worker model of *Fresh Start* and *A Helping Hand* in additional programs or at additional locations around the state

- Direct resources to the piloting of Family Treatment Drug Courts in appropriate areas of the state, perhaps targeting geographical areas where the highest percentages of child welfare cases present with issues of parental substance abuse.
- Support the development and coordination of comprehensive, familycentered, trauma-informed treatment for children who were substance-affected newborns throughout childhood and adolescence.
- The range of possible effects of *in utero* substance exposure, including subtle effects on temperament and cognitive, social and academic functioning, parenting substance-exposed children can pose unique challenges for families. Both the child and his or her primary care-givers may require a variety of services throughout childhood, adolescence, and the transition to adulthood. Massachusetts should make comprehensive diagnostic and treatment services available for these children and their families.
- Ensure ongoing state funding for evidence based and promising practices that are currently funded through temporary federal grant money, including: *Project BRIGHT*, the *Family Recovery Project*, and *FRESH Start*.
- Enhance coordination between state agencies such as the Department of Education (DOE), the Department of Mental Health (DMH), the Department of Developmental Services (DDS), DPH and DCF as children who were substance-exposed newborns move through the educational system and into young adulthood.

Prenatal exposure to alcohol, tobacco, misused prescription medications, and illegal drugs can seriously affect the child and family and result in substantial cost to society. Massachusetts and other states have undertaken initiatives to reduce the effect of prenatal substance exposure but many opportunities remain. Even in a time of significant budgetary constraints, it is essential to consider options that will, over time, save taxpayer money, improve lives, and build a healthier and more productive Commonwealth.

Appendix A

List of Individuals Interviewed and Other Sources

Lisa Albers-Prock, MD, MPH, Developmental Behavioral Pediatrician, Childrens' Hospital Boston

Debra Bercuvitz, MPH, Program Director, Fresh Start

Hermik Babakhanlou-Chase, MPH, Epidemiologist, Office of Data Analytics and Decision Support, Bureau of Substance Abuse Services, Massachusetts Department of Public Health

Judith Bernstein, RNC, Ph.D., Professor, Dept. of Community Health Sciences, Boston University School of Public Health, Professor, Dept. of Emergency Medicine, Boston University School of Medicine

Kim Bishop-Stevens, MSW, LICSW, Substance Abuse Manager, Massachusetts Department of Children and Families

Lynn Bissonnette, Superintendent, MCI-Framingham, Massachusetts Department of Corrections, Letter of January 31, 2011

Marjorie Bloom, MSW, MPH, LICSW, Clinical Social Worker, Baystate Medical Center, Maternal and Child Health in High Risk Maternity and NICU

Tracey Burton, Family Services Lead Counselor/Lead Counselor for Hampden County Correctional Facility

Taletha M. Derrington, MA, Lurie Institute Doctoral Fellow, The Heller School for Social Policy and Management, Brandeis University

Karin Downs, RN, MPH, Asst. Director for Clinical Affairs, Division of Perinatal, Early Childhood and Special Health Needs, Bureau of Family Health and Nutrition, Massachusetts Department of Public Health

Norma Finkelstein, Ph.D., LICSW, Executive Director, The Institute for Health and Recovery, Cambridge, MA

Carol Girard, MA, SBIRT Coordinator, Bureau of Substance Abuse Services, Massachusetts Department of Public Health

Karol Kaltenbach, Ph.D., Professor of Pediatrics, Psychiatry and Human Behavior, Director of Maternal Addiction Treatment Education and Research (MATER), Department of Pediatrics Jefferson Medical College, Thomas Jefferson University, Philadelphia, PA

Ruth Karacek, RN, MPH, CCM, Public Health Nurse Advisor II, Division of Perinatal, Early Childhood and Special Health Needs, Bureau of Family Health and Nutrition, Massachusetts Department of Public Health

Barry M. Lester, Ph.D., Professor of Psychiatry and Human Behavior, Professor of Pediatrics, Director of The Brown Center for the Study of Children at Risk, Warren Alpert Medical School at Brown University Walter N. Leutz, Ph.D., Associate Professor, The Heller School for Social Policy and Management, Brandeis University

Neil Michaels, MSP, Director of Early Intervention and Special Projects, Massachusetts Department of Children and Families

Daniel S. Mumbauer, MBA, MA, President & CEO, Southeast Regional Network, High Point Treatment Center, New Bedford, SEMCOA

Mary Pfister, CADAC, LADCI, MA, Substance Abuse Specialist, Massachusetts Department of Children and Families, Region IV

Karen Pressman, MS, LCSW, CADAC, Director of Planning and Development, Bureau of Substance Abuse Services, Massachusetts Department of Public Health

Teri St. Pierre, Program Director, Women's Addiction Treatment Program, High Point Treatment Center, New Bedford

Amy Price, MPA, Associate Director of National Abandoned Infants Assistance (AIA) Resource Center at UC Berkley

Marnie Rieber, Facility Director, Angel House, Hyannis, MA

Joan M. Stoler, MD, Clinical Geneticist Childrens' Hospital Boston, Assistant Professor of Pediatrics, Harvard Medical School

Enid Watson, M.Div., Director, Screening and Early Identification Programs, MA FASD State Coordinator, Institute for Health and Recovery

Appendix B

Acknowledgements

We would like to acknowledge the following individuals who provided us with contacts for many of our interviews and/or suggestions on this Issue Brief as it developed:

Michael Doonan, Ph.D., Assistant Professor, The Heller School for Social Policy and Management, Brandeis University; Executive Director of the Massachusetts Health Policy Forum and Director of the Council for Health Care Economics and Policy

John L. Eadie, MPA, Director Prescription Monitoring Program Center of Excellence, The Heller School for Social Policy and Management, Brandeis University

Constance M. Horgan, Sc.D., Professor and Associate Dean for Research, Director, Institute for Behavioral Health, Schneider Institutes for Health Policy, The Heller School for Social Policy and Management, Brandeis University

Mark Parrino, MPA, President of the American Association for the Treatment of Opioid Dependence

Marji Erickson Warfield, Ph.D, Senior Scientist and Lecturer, The Heller School for Social Policy and Management, Brandeis University

References

1. Jones, H.E., et al., *Neonatal abstinence syndrome after methadone or buprenorphine exposure*. N Engl J Med, 2010. **363**(24): p. 2320-31.

2. Dong, M.X., et al., *The interrelatedness of multiple forms of childhood abuse, neglect, and household dysfunction*. Child Abuse & Neglect, 2004. **28**(7): p. 771-784.

3. Felitti, V.J., et al., *Relationship of childhood abuse and household dysfunction to many of the leading causes of death in adults - The adverse childhood experiences (ACE) study*. American Journal of Preventive Medicine, 1998. **14**(4): p. 245-258.

4. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). *Adverse Childhood Experiences* (*ACE*) *Study*. June 1, 2011; Available from: http://www.cdc.gov/ace/index.htm.

5. United States Department of Health & Human Services. Substance Abuse Mental Health Services Administration. Office of Applied Studies, *National Survey on Drug Use and Health*, 2009. 2010, Inter-university Consortium for Political and Social Research (ICPSR) [distributor].

6. United States Department of Health & Human Services. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (PRAMS), *Pregnancy Risk Assessment Monitoring System (PRAMS): CPONDER*. 2008: Atlanta, GA.

7. Massachusetts Department of Public Health, *Health of Massachusetts*. April 2010: Boston, MA.

8. Washington State Department of Health. *Substance abuse during pregnancy: guidelines for screening*. 2009; Available from: http://here.doh.wa.gov/materials/substance-abuse-during-pregnancy-guidelines-for-screening/15_PregSubs_E09H.pdf.

9. Hamilton, B.E., J.A. Martin, and S.J. Ventura, *Births: Preliminary data for 2009* National Center for Health Statistics, Editor. 2010: Hyattsville, MD.

10. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC), *Pregnancy Risk Assessment Monitoring System (PRAMS): CPONDER.* 2008.

11. Young, N.K., S.M. Boles, and C. Otero, *Parental substance use disorders and child maltreatment: overlap, gaps, and opportunities*. Child Maltreat, 2007. **12**(2): p. 137-49.

12. Bandstra, E.S., et al., *Prenatal drug exposure: infant and toddler outcomes*. J Addict Dis, 2010. **29**(2): p. 245-58.

13. Jansson, L.M., M. Velez, and C. Harrow, The *opioid-exposed newborn: assessment and pharmacologic management*. J Opioid Manag, 2009. **5**(1): p. 47-55.

14. Johnson, K., C. Gerada, and A. Greenough, *Substance misuse during pregnancy*. Br J Psychiatry, 2003. **183**: p. 187-9.

15. Kim, J. and J. Krall, *Literature review: effects of prenatal substance exposure on infant and early childhood outcomes*. 2006, National Abandoned Infants Assistance Resource Center, University of California at Berkeley: Berkeley, CA.

16. Liu, A.J., et al., *Growth restriction in pregnancies of opioid-dependent mothers*. Arch Dis Child Fetal Neonatal Ed, 2010. **95**(4): p. F258-62.

17. Chiodo, L.M., et al., *A metric of maternal prenatal risk drinking predicts neurobehavioral outcomes in preschool children*. Alcohol Clin Exp Res, 2009. **33**(4): p. 634-44.

18. Clarren, S.K. and A. Salmon, *Prevention of fetal alcohol spectrum disorder: proposal for a comprehensive approach*. Expert Review of Obstretrics and Gynecology, 2010. **5**: p. 23-30.

19. Prabhu, N., et al., *First trimester maternal tobacco smoking habits and fetal growth*. Thorax, 2010. **65**(3): p. 235-40.

20. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). *FASD Homepage: Alcohol Use in Pregnancy*. August 24, 2009; Available from: http://www.cdc.gov/ncbddd/fasd/alcohol-use.html.

21. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). *Tobacco Use and Pregnancy: Home*. May 11, 2009; Available from: http://www.cdc.gov/reproductivehealth/TobaccoUsePregnancy/ index.htm.

22. Chang, G., *Alcohol-screening instruments for pregnant women*. Alcohol Res Health, 2001. **25**(3): p. 204-9.

23. Davis, C.P., et al., *Prenatal oxycodone exposure impairs spatial learning and/or memory in rats*. Behav Brain Res, 2010. **212**(1): p. 27-34.

24. Holstege, C.P., *Benzodiazepines, in Encyclopedia of Toxicology*, Elsevier, Editor. 2005: Oxford.

25. Jacobson, J.L., & Jacobson, S.W. *Effects of prenatal alcohol exposure on child development*. NIAAA Sidebar 2003; Available from: http://pubs.niaaa.nih.gov/publications/arh26 -4/282-286.htm.

26. Jansson, L.M., et al., *Methadone maintenance and breastfeeding in the neonatal period*. Pediatrics, 2008. **121**(1): p. 106-14.

27. Lewis, B.A., et al., *The effects of prenatal cocaine on language development at 10years of age*. Neurotoxicol Teratol, 2010.

28. Miles, D.R., et al., *Smoking and illicit drug use during pregnancy: impact on neonatal outcome*. J Reprod Med, 2006. **51**(7): p. 567-72.

29. Office of the Surgeon General (OSG), *How Tobacco Smoke Causes Disease: The Biology and Behavioral Basis for Smoking-Attributable Disease: A Report of the Surgeon General*, United States Department of Health and Human Services, Editor. 2010: Rockville, MD.

30. Schempf, A.H. and D.M. Strobino, *Illicit drug use and adverse birth outcomes: is it drugs or context?* J Urban Health, 2008. **85**(6): p. 858-73.

31. Singer, L.T., et al., *Cognitive outcomes of preschool children with prenatal cocaine exposure*. JAMA, 2004. **291**(20): p. 2448-56.

32. United States Department of Health & Human Services (DHHS). National Institutes of Health (NIH). National Institute on Drug Abuse (NIDA), *Medical consequences of drug abuse: Prenatal effects. Drugs that may have adverse prenatal effects.* 2011.

33. Burd, L., et al., *Fetal alcohol syndrome: neuropsychiatric phenomics*. Neurotoxicology and Teratology, 2003. **25**(6): p. 697-705.

34. Bada, H.S., et al., *Preadolescent behavior problems after prenatal cocaine exposure: Relationship between teacher and caretaker ratings (Maternal Lifestyle Study)*. Neurotoxicol Teratol, 2010.

35. Lester, B. and L. Lagasse, *Children of addicted women*. Journal of Addictive Diseases, 2010. **29**(2): p. 259-276.

36. Lester, B.M., et al., *Behavioral epigenetics*. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences, 2011. **1226**(1): p. 14-33.

37. Whitaker, T., et al., *Serial pediatric symptom checklist screening in children with prenatal drug exposure*. Journal of developmental and behavioral pediatrics, 2011. **32**(3): p. 206-215.

38. United States Department of Health & Human Services (DHHS) Substance Abuse & Mental Health Services Administration (SAMHSA) Office of Applied Studies (OAS), The *NSDUH report – Alcohol use among pregnant women and recent mothers: 2002 to 2007.* 2008.

39. Broussard, C.S., et al., *Maternal treatment with opioid analgesics and risk for birth defects*. American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology, 2011. **204**(4): p. 314.e1-314.e11.

40. American College of Obstetrics and Gynecology (ACOG), *ACOG Committee Opinion No.* 343. *Psychosocial risk factors: perinatal screening and intervention*. Obstetrics and Gynecology, August 2006. **108**(2): p. 469.

41. United States Department of Health and Human Services (DHHS). Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration (SAMHSA). *Stop and think. If you're pregnant, don't drink.* November 13, 2009; Available from: http://www.fasdcenter.samhsa.gov/.

42. Porter, L.S. and B.O. Porter, *A blended infant massage--parenting enhancement program for recovering substance-abusing mothers*. Pediatr Nurs, 2004. **30**(5): p. 363-72, 401.

43. Olson, H.C., et al., *"Family matters:" Fetal alcohol spectrum disorders and the family.* Developmental Disabilities Research Reviews, 2009. **15**(3): p. 235-249.

44. Kumpfer, K.L. and M.A. Fowler, *Parenting skills and family support programs for drug-abusing mothers*. Semin Fetal Neonatal Med, 2007. **12**(2): p. 134-42.

45. Dow-Edwards, D., *Translational issues for prenatal cocaine studies and the role of environment*. Neurotoxicology and Teratology, 2010. **33**(1): p. 9-16.

46. Bennett, H.A., et al., *Depression during Pregnancy : Overview of Clinical Factors*. Clin Drug Investing, 2004. **24**(3): p. 157-79.

47. United States Department of Health & Human Services (DHHS). Substance Abuse Mental Health Services Administration (SAMHSA). Office of Applied Studies (OAS), Treatment *Episode Data Set -- Admissions (TEDS-A), 2009.* 2011, Inter-university Consortium for Political and Social Research (ICPSR).

48. Babakhanlou-Chase, H., Personal Communication. July 29, 2011 & August 2, 2011.

49. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC), *Clinical and Behavioral Characteristics of Adults Receiving Medical Care for HIV Infection: Medical Monitoring Project,* 2005 Pilot Data Collection Cycle in HIV Special Surveillance Report 6. 2010.

50. Chaudhury, R., et al., Addiction Severity Index Composite Scores as Predictors for Sexual-Risk Behaviors and Drug-Use Behaviors in Drug-Using Pregnant Patients. American Journal of Drug & Alcohol Abuse, 2010. **36**(1): p. 25-30.

51. Ramsey, S.E., K.M. Bell, and P.A. Engler, *Human Immunodeficiency Virus Risk Behavior Among Female Substance Abusers*. Journal of Addictive Diseases, 2010. **29**: p. 192-199.

52. Purohit, V., R. Rapaka, and D. Shurtleff, *Mother-to-Child Transmission (MTCT) of HIV and Drugs of Abuse in Post-Highly Active Antiretroviral Therapy (HAART) Era.* Journal of Neuroimmune Pharmacology, 2010. **5**(4): p. 507-515.

53. Lindau, S.T., et al., *Mothers on the margins: Implications for eradicating perinatal HIV*. Social Science & Medicine, 2006. **62**(1): p. 59-69.

54. Jasinski, J.L., *Pregnancy and domestic violence: a review of the literature*. Trauma Violence Abuse, 2004. **5**(1): p. 47-64.

55. Kaysen, D., et al., *Domestic violence and alcohol use: Trauma-related symptoms and motives for drinking*. Addictive Behaviors, 2007. **32**(6): p. 1272-1283.

56. United States Department of Health & Human Services. Administration for Children & Families. Child Welfare Information Gateway. Parental *Substance Use and the Child Welfare System*. 2009; Available from: http://www.childwelfare.gov/pubs/factsheets/parentalsubabuse.cfm.

57. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC), *Smoking Prevalence Among Women of Reproductive Age—United States*. Morbidity & Mortality Weekly Report, August 8, 2008. 57 (31): p. 849-52.

58. Bureau of Labor Statistics. *CPI Inflation Calculator*. 2011; Available from: http://www.bls.gov/data/inflation_calculator.htm.

59. Office of National Drug Control Policy (ONDCP), *The Economic Costs of Drug Abuse in the United States, 1992-2002*, Executive Office of the President, Editor. 2004: Washington, D.C.

60. Lupton, C. *The Financial Impact of Fetal Alcohol Syndrome*. 2003; Available from: http://www.fasdcenter.samhsa.gov/publications/cost.cfm.

61. Michaels, N., Director of Early Intervention and Special Projects, Massachusetts Department of Children and Families, *Personal Communication*. August 1, 2011.

62. Greenfield, S.F. and C.E. Grella, *What is "women-focused" treatment for substance use disorders?* Psychiatr Serv, 2009. **60**(7): p. 880-2.

63. Finkelstein, N., et al., *Building resilience in children of mothers who have co-occurring disorders and histories of violence: intervention model and implementation issues.* The journal of behavioral health services & research, 2005. **32**(2): p. 141-154.

64. United States Department of Health and Human Services (DHHS). Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration (SAMHSA). Center for Substance Abuse Treatment (CSAT), *Substance Abuse Treatment: Addressing the Specific Needs of Women. Treatment Improvement Protocol (TIP) Series 51.* 2009, Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration: Rockville, MD.

65. United States Department of Health and Human Services (DHHS). Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration (SAMHSA). Center for Substance Abuse Treatment (CSAT), Substance Abuse Treatment: Addressing the Specific Needs of Women. Treatment Improvement Protocol (TIP) Series 51. 2009, Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration: Rockville, MD.

66. Griner, D. and T.B. Smith, *Culturally adapted mental health intervention: A meta-analytic review*. Psychotherapy: Theory, Research, Practice, Training, 2006. **43**(4): p. 531-548.

67. Tedeschi, R.G. and R.P. Kilmer, *Assessing Strengths, Resilience, and Growth to Guide Clinical Interventions.* Professional Psychology: Research and Practice, 2005. **36**(3): p. 230-237.

68. Noether, C., et al., *Design strengths and issues of SAMHSA's Women, Co-occurring Disorders, and Violence Study.* Psychiatric Services, 2005. **56**(10): p. 1233-1236.

69. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). *Unintended Pregnancy Prevention: Home.* April 30, 2010; Available from: http://www.cdc.gov/reproductivehealth/ unintendedpregnancy/index.htm.

70. Muhuri, P. and J. Gfroerer, *Substance Use Among Women: Associations with Pregnancy, Parenting, and Race/Ethnicity*. Maternal and Child Health Journal, 2009. **13**(3): p. 376-385.

71. Young, N.K., et al., *Substance-Exposed Infants: State Responses to the Problem*. 2009: Rockville, MD.

72. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC), *Recommendations to Improve Preconception Health and Health Care – United States: A Report of the CDC/ATSDR Preconception Care Work Group and the Select Panel on Preconception Care.* Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report, April 21, 2006. **55**(No. RR-6).

73. National Institute on Alcohol Abuse and Alcoholism (NIAAA). *Women and Alcohol*. February 2011; Available from: http://pubs.niaaa.nih.gov/publications/womensfact/womensfact.htm.

74. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC), *Proceedings of the Preconception Health and Health Care Clinical, Public Health, and Consumer Workgroup Meetings.* June 27-28, 2006. 75. Massachusetts Department of Public Health (DPH). Bureau of Substance Abuse Services (BSAS). *Screening, Brief Intervention, Referral and Treatment (SBIRT): Saving Money, Saving Lives.* 2009; Available from: http://www.mass.gov/Eeohhs2/docs/dph/substance_abuse/sbirt/brief.pdf.

76. Girard, C., et al. *SBIRT Screening in Community Health Centers*. 2011; Available from: http://www.massleague.org/Calendar/LeagueEvents/CHI/2011/SBIRT.pdf.

77. Anderson, B.L., et al., *Knowledge, Opinions, and Practice Patterns of Obstetrician-Gynecologists Regarding Their Patients' Use of Alcohol.* Journal of Addiction Medicine, 2010. **4** (2): p. 114-121.

78. American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists (ACOG). *Committee Opinion No.* 422. At-risk drinking and illicit drug use: ethical issues in obstetric and gynecologic practice. December 2008; Available from: http://www.acog.org/from_home/publications/ethics/co422.pdf.

79. Taylor, P., et al., *Prenatal Screening for Substance Use and Violence: Findings from Physician Focus Groups*. Maternal and Child Health Journal, 2007. **11**(3): p. 241-247.

80. Ensuring Solutions to Alcohol Problems. Reimbursement *Codes Change the Landscape of Substance Use Screening*. February 22, 2008; Available from: http://www.ensuringsolutions.org/media/media_show.htm?doc_id=670190.

81. Anderson, T. and E. Bhang, *Medicaid Reimbursement for Screening and Brief Intervention: Massachusetts' Preparations*, C.M. UMASS Medical School, Editor. December 7, 2009.

82. Indian Health Service. *Reporting Quality for GPRA: Measure - Alcohol Screening: Fetal Alcohol Syndrome Prevention*. Available from: http://www.ihs.gov/nonmedicalprograms/quality/ index.cfm?module=gpra_alcohol.

83. Massachusetts Department of Public Health (DPH). Bureau of Substance Abuse Services (BSAS), *Medically Monitored Acute Treatment Services for Pregnant Women: Brief Guide for Providers*. March 2011.

84. United States Department of Health and Human Services (DHHS). Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration (SAMHSA). Center for Substance Abuse Treatment (CSAT), *Pregnant, Substance-Using Women. Treatment Improvement Protocol (TIP) Series 2*.

85. McCann, K.J., et al., *Services used by perinatal substance-users with child welfare involvement: a descriptive study.* Harm Reduct J, 2010. 7: p. 19.

86. National Abandoned Infants Assistance Resource Center. University of California at Berkeley. *Information and Resources: Substance Exposed Newborns, Additional Information on State Policies and Practices related to SEN*. March 17, 2011]; Available from: http://aia.berkeley.edu/information_resources/substance_exposed_newborns.php.

87. *CAPTA*, 42 USC chapter 67.

88. *IDEA*, 20 USC section 637(a)(6)(B).

89. Massachusetts Department of Public Health (DPH), *Draft Report: Substance Exposed Newborn Screening Practices in Birth Hospitals*. January 2011.

90. Chasnoff, I.J., H.J. Landress, and M.E. Barrett, *The Prevalence of Illicit-Drug or Alcohol Use during Pregnancy and Discrepancies in Mandatory Reporting in Pinellas County, Florida*. New England Journal of Medicine, 1990. **322**(17): p. 1202-1206.

91. Ellsworth, M.A., T.P. Stevens, and C.T. D'Angio, *Infant race affects application of clinical guidelines when screening for drugs of abuse in newborns*. Pediatrics, 2010. **125**(6): p. e1379-85.

92. American Academy of Pediatrics Committee on Drugs, *Neonatal drug withdrawal*. Pediatrics, 1998. **101**(6): p. 1079-88.

93. Lester, B.M., E.Z. Tronick, and T.B. Brazelton, *The Neonatal Intensive Care Unit Network Neurobehavioral Scale procedures*. Pediatrics, 2004. **113**(3 Pt 2): p. 641-67.

94. Hoyme, H.E., et al., *A practical clinical approach to diagnosis of fetal alcohol spectrum disorders: clarification of the 1996 institute of medicine criteria*. Pediatrics, 2005. **115**(1): p. 39-47.

95. Stoler, J. and L. Holmes, *Recognition of facial features of fetal alcohol syndrome in the newborn*. American journal of medical genetics. Part C, Seminars in medical genetics, 2004. **127C**(1): p. 21-27.

96. Stoler, J.M. and L.B. Holmes, *Under-recognition of prenatal alcohol effects in infants of known alcohol abusing women.* The Journal of Pediatrics, 1999. **135**(4): p. 430-436.

97. Stoler, J.M., *Reassessment of patients with the diagnosis of fetal alcohol syndrome*. Pediatrics, 1999. **103**(6): p. 1313-1315.

98. Stratton, K., C. Howe, and F. Battaglia, eds. *Fetal Alcohol Syndrome: Diagnosis, Epidemiology, Prevention, and Treatment*. ed. Committee to Study Fetal Alcohol Syndrome. Division of Biobehavioral Sciences and Mental Disorders. 1996, National Academy Press: Washington, D.C.

99. Bertrand, J., R.L. Floyd, and M.K. Weber, Guidelines *for Identifying and Referring Persons with Fetal Alcohol Syndrome*. MMWR 2005. **54**(RR11): p. 1-10.

100. Erratum: Vol. 54, No. RR-11. MMWR, May 26, 2006. 55(20): p. 568.

101. Sarkar, S. and S.M. Donn, *Management of neonatal abstinence syndrome in neonatal intensive care units: a national survey*. J Perinatol, 2006. **26**(1): p. 15-7.

102. Wu, L.-T., et al., *Treatment use and barriers among adolescents with prescription opioid use disorders*. Addictive Behaviors, 2011(0).

103. Massachusetts General Laws, Chapter 119, Section 51A.

104. Massachusetts Department of Children and Families, Definitions, 110 CMR 2.00 2011.

105. Watson, E., et al., *The feasibility of screening for FASD risk in early intervention settings: A pilot study of systems change*. Infants and Young Children, 2011. **24**: p. 2.

106. Derrington, T., *Findings from a Massachusetts Study on Drug-Exposed Infants and Early Intervention Service Use.* Zero to Three, 2011. **31**(4): p. 69.

107. Ramey, C.T. and S.L. Ramey, *Prevention of intellectual disabilities: early interventions to improve cognitive development*. Prev Med, 1998. **27**(2): p. 224-32.

108. Ramey, C.T. and S.L. Ramey, *Early intervention and early experience*. Am Psychol, 1998. **53**(2): p. 109-20.

109. Frank, D.A., et al., Level of prenatal cocaine exposure and scores on the Bayley Scales of Infant Development: modifying effects of caregiver, early intervention, and birth weight. Pediatrics, 2002. **110**(6): p. 1143-52.

110. Clements, K.M., et al., *Preterm Birth-Associated Cost of Early Intervention Services: An Analysis by Gestational Age*. Pediatrics, 2007. **119**(4): p. e866-874.

111. Levin, J., et al., *Expenditure Study*, N.E.I.L. Study, Editor. June 2004.

112. Rieber, M., Facility Director, Angel House, Hyannis, MA. April 20, 2011.

113. National Women's Law Center, Mothers behind bars: A state-by-state report card and analysis of federal policies on conditions of confinement for pregnant and parenting women and the effect on their children, in The Rebecca Project for Human Rights. October 2010.

114. Massachusetts General Laws Ch. 123, section 35.

115. Solomon, P., *Peer support/peer provided services underlying processes, benefits, and critical ingredients.* Psychiatric rehabilitation journal, 2004. **27**(4): p. 392-401.

116. Watson, E., K. Funk, and E. Twombley, *Using the Peer Recovery Model with Mothers of Substance-Exposed Newborns Identified through CAPTA Requirements*. The Source, AIA, Spring, 2010.

117. Green, B.L., et al., *How effective are family treatment drug courts? Outcomes from a foursite national study.* Child Maltreat, 2007. **12**(1): p. 43-59.

118. Bureau of Justice Assistance, Family Dependency Treatment Courts: Addressing Child and Neglect Cases Using the Drug Court Model. December 2004.

119. Worcel, S.D., et al., *Effects of family treatment drug courts on substance abuse and child welfare outcomes.* Child Abuse Review, 2008. **17**(6): p. 427-443.

120. American University Justice Programs Office, *BJA Drug Court Clearinghouse Project* Summary of Drug Court Activity by State and County Juvenile/Family Drug Courts. July 7, 2010.

121. Richardson, G.A., et al., *Prenatal cocaine exposure: Effects on mother- and teacher-rated behavior problems and growth in school-age children*. Neurotoxicology and Teratology, 2010.

122. Carmody, D.P., D.S. Bennett, and M. Lewis, *The effects of prenatal cocaine exposure and gender on inhibitory control and attention*. Neurotoxicology and Teratology. **33**(1): p. 61-68.

123. Coles, C. and Z. Li, *Functional Neuroimaging in the Examination of Effects of Prenatal Alcohol Exposure*. Neuropsychology Review, 2011. **21**(2): p. 119-132.

124. Fast, D.K. and J. Conry, *Fetal alcohol spectrum disorders and the criminal justice system*. Developmental Disabilities Research Reviews, 2009. **15**(3): p. 250-257.

125. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). *Fetal Alcohol Spectrum Disorder* (*FASDs*) *Training and Education*. 2011 April 13, 2011]; Available from: http://www.cdc.gov/ncbddd/fasd/training.html.

126. SAMHSA Fetal Alcohol Spectrum Disorders Center for Excellence, *Fetal Alcohol Spectrum Disorders: Tips for Elementary School Teachers*. June 2004.